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ASX Appendix 4E 
For the year ended 31 March 2022 

Preliminary Final Report 

Name of entity ABN reference 

PayGroup Limited 90 620 435 038 

Reporting Periods 

Financial year ended 
(‘current period’) 

Financial year ended  
(‘previous corresponding period’) 

31 March 2022 31 March 2021 

Results for announcement to the market 

Key information 

Current 
period 

$ 

Previous 
corresponding 

Period 
$ 

Percentage 
change increase 

% 

Amount 
increase/ 

(decrease) 
$ 

Revenue from ordinary activities $26,232,825 $15,627,285 68% $10,605,540 
Profit/ (Loss) from ordinary activities after tax ($357,804) ($510,697) 30%     $152,893 
Net Profit/ (Loss) attributable to members of parent company ($357,804) ($510,697) 30% $152,893 

Dividends 

No dividends were paid during the year ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021. 

Net tangible assets 

s 
Net tangible asset backing per ordinary share 

Current 
period 
Cents 

Previous 
corresponding 

period 
Cents 

Net tangible asset backing per ordinary share 4.8 2.5 

Control gained or lost over entities in the period 

PayGroup acquired 100% of the issued capital of Integrated Workforce Solutions Pty Ltd (IWS) effective 1 May 2021. PayGroup also acquired 
100% of the issued capital of FF Partners Co., Ltd (PayAsia Japan) effective 1 July 2021. 

Financial statements 

For additional 4E disclosures, refer to the Directors’ Report and audited Financial Report for the year ended 31 March 2022. 

Signed 

On behalf of the directors 

Ian Basser 
Chairman 
30 June 2022 
Melbourne 
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Message from the Chairman 

Fellow Shareholders, 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to present the Annual Report for the financial year ended 31 March 2022 (FY22). The 
year was a milestone year for PayGroup on many aspects. Our great result was achieved by the continued execution on our strategic 
priorities of delivering organic growth, expanding Global Partnership Program (GPP) and monetisation opportunities, and realising operating 
leverage.  

Improving the operating performance across the Group was top of mind throughout FY22. This has been reflected by the record organic 
growth in Annualised Recurring Revenue (ARR) of $39.1m, an increase of 44% on the prior year (FY21: $27.2m). Pleasingly, we achieved 
record statutory income of $27.2m, up 68% on FY21 (FY21: $15.6m). This represents 100% of the FY21 exit ARR, demonstrating our ability 
to convert ARR to statutory revenue. Together with the record ARR, PayGroup’s expanding pipeline of opportunities and our rapid 
implementation processes sets a strong foundation for growth.  

The record revenue momentum has driven strong earnings growth across the business. As such, PayGroup reported an improvement in 
NPAT of $0.15m in FY22. Additionally, we have achieved significant improvement in our cash flow trajectory over the year, with net cash 
outflow reducing across the year to just $(0.2)m in 4Q FY22. We are very proud of this progress, demonstrating PayGroup’s focus on 
prudent cash management while delivering long-term sustainable growth. 

In May 2021, PayGroup completed the acquisition of Integrated Workforce Solutions (IWS), a leading cloud-based workforce management 
platform specialising in solutions for the franchise and retail sector in Australia and New Zealand. Throughout the year, PayGroup 
successfully integrated the platform with our existing infrastructure, significantly expanding the geographic reach of the franchise and retail 
platform.   

The GPP was a strong contributor to the record growth achieved in FY22. During the year, SD Worx was added to the GPP, significantly 
expanding PayGroup’s pipeline of referrals and sales opportunities. PayGroup will service SD Worx’s clients within APAC using existing 
infrastructure. PayGroup now proudly supports our customer base across 82 geographies, and we expect that the GPP will continue to 
deliver a strong pipeline of international opportunities as we look to increase our scale across key markets and deliver margin expansion.  

During the year, we continued to increase our share of customer wallet, with increased uptake of cross-selling opportunities, and enterprise 
and payee monetisation initiatives. In FY22, cross-sells and up-sells represented 24% of new contracts signed, demonstrating PayGroup’s 
highly complementary product suite and the Company’s ability to execute on opportunities to increase the share of customer wallet across 
PayGroup’s loyal customer base. Further, PayGroup continued to see significant momentum in our monetisation opportunities with the 
payments offering now annualising at $2.5m. The latest monetisation solution to be added to our offering, Accessing Wages Earned, was 
successfully launched in India during the year and is on track to go live in Australia in FY23 as part of the next stage of planned 
implementation across key markets.  

Subsequent to the year end, PayGroup entered into a Scheme Implementation Agreement with Deel, and Deel Australia, a leading global 
compliance and payroll solution provider that helps businesses hire anyone, anywhere. Under the proposed transaction, Deel will acquire 
100% of the ordinary shares in PayGroup by way of a scheme of arrangement for cash consideration of A$1.00 per PayGroup share, 
representing a 174.0% premium to the closing price of 22 June 2022, $0.365. The Board of Directors believe that this transaction is in the 
best interest of PayGroup shareholders and for PayGroup’s stakeholder more broadly. As such, the Board unanimously recommends that 
shareholders vote in favour of the Scheme.  

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to thank Mark and the whole PayGroup team for their hard work and dedication in achieving 
the record results of FY22. Further, the Board of Directors would like to thank our shareholders for their support as we continue to deliver 
our strategic priorities. 

Yours faithfully, 

Ian Basser 
Chairman 
30 June 2022 
Melbourne
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Corporate Governance Statement

The Directors are responsible for the strategic direction of the Company, the identification and implementation of corporate policies and goals, 
and monitoring of the business and affairs of the Company on behalf of its Shareholders.  

The Company is cognisant of the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (3rd edition) as published by ASX Corporate 
Governance Council and acknowledges that the 8 principles set out therein are fundamental to good corporate governance.  

The Board believes that the structure of the Company, its management and business practices provide a basis of governance which meets the 
essential corporate governance principles articulated by ASX in that publication. 

This Corporate Governance Statement sets out the Company’s current compliance with the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Principles 
of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations (Best Practice Recommendations).  

The Company's website http://paygrouplimited.com/index.php/corporate-governance/ contains an Investor Section, which details the 
Company's Corporate Governance Policy. This provides public access to all the information relevant to the Company meeting its corporate 
governance obligations. 

BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATION COMMENT 

1. Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 

1.1 A listed entity should have a Board Charter setting out: 
(a) the respective roles and responsibilities of its board and

management; and
(b) those matters expressly reserved to the board and those

delegated to management.

Role and Responsibilities of the Board of Management 

The Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction of 
the Company and for overseeing and monitoring its 
businesses and affairs.  Directors are accountable to the 
shareholders for the Company’s performance.   

A copy of the Company’s Primary Board Charter, which sets 
out the role and responsibilities of the Board is available on 
the Company’s website in the Corporate Governance section. 

1.2 A listed entity should: 
(a) undertake appropriate checks before appointing a person,

or putting forward to security holders a candidate for
election, as a director; and

(b) provide security holders with all material information in its
possession relevant to a decision on whether or not to
elect or re-elect a director.

Director Appointment and Election 

The Board performs appropriate checks on candidates for the 
Board including checks as to the candidate’s character, 
experience, education, criminal record and bankruptcy 
history.  Where appropriate, external consultants may be 
engaged to assist in searching for candidates and 
undertaking relevant checks. 

The Company will continue to provide information to 
shareholders about Directors seeking re-election or a 
candidate seeking election to the Board, including but not 
limited to their relevant qualifications, experience and skills as 
well as details of any other listed directorships held, whether 
the Director is considered to be independent and a 
recommendation by the Board in respect of the re-election or 
election as a Director. 

1.3 A listed entity should have a written agreement with each 
director and senior executive setting out the terms of their 
appointment. 

Each Director enters into a written agreement with the 
Company which outlines the terms of his or her appointment 
including the Director’s duties, obligations, remuneration, 
expected time commitments and notification of the 
Company’s policies.  

Senior executives including the Managing Director and CFO 
have a formal services agreement setting out the terms of 
their employment. 

1.4 The company secretary of a listed entity should be 
accountable directly to the board, through the chair, on all 
matters to do with the proper functioning of the board. 

Company Secretary 

The company secretary is responsible for co-ordination of all 
Board business, including advising on governance matters, 
monitoring policies and procedures, board papers, board 
minutes, communication with regulatory bodies, ASX, ASIC 
and all statutory and other filings.  The company secretary is 
accountable to the Board and all Directors have access to the 
company secretary.  The decision to appoint or remove the 
company secretary is made by the Board. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
(continued) 

 
 BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATION COMMENT 

1.5 A listed entity should: 
(a) have a diversity policy which includes requirements for the 

board or a relevant committee of the board to set 
measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and 
to assess annually both the objectives and the entity’s 
progress in achieving them; 

(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it; and 
(c) disclose as at the end of each reporting period the 

measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity set 
by the board or a relevant committee of the board in 
accordance with the entity’s diversity policy and its 
progress towards achieving them and either: 

(1) the respective proportions of men and women on 
the board, in senior executive positions and across 
the organisation (including how the entity has 
defined “senior executive” for these purposes); or 

(2) if the entity is a “relevant employer” under the 
Workplace Gender Equality Act, the entity’s most 
recent “Gender Equality Indicators”, as defined in 
and published under that Act. 

Diversity Charter 

The Company has established a Diversity Charter, which is 
available on the Company’s website.  The Diversity Charter 
outlines requirements for the Board to develop measurable 
objectives for achieving diversity and annually assess both 
the objectives and the progress in achieving those objectives.  
The Board has developed objectives regarding gender 
diversity and aims to achieve these objectives over the next 
five years as Director and senior executive positions become 
vacant and appropriately qualified candidates become 
available.   

The respective proportion of women and men in the Company 
as at 31 March 2022 is as follows: 

 Proportion of 
women 

Proportion of 
men 

On the Board 0% 100% 

In senior executive 
positions 

17% 83% 

Across the whole 
organisation 

46% 54% 

 

For this purpose, the Board defines “a "senior executive" as a 
person who makes, or participates in the making of, decisions 
that affect the whole or a substantial part of the business or 
has the capacity to significantly affect the Company’s financial 
standing. This therefore includes all senior management and 
senior executive designated positions as well as senior 
specialised professionals. 

The Company’s diversity objectives and progress towards 
achieving them are disclosed on the Company’s website in 
the Corporate Governance section. 

1.6 A listed entity should: 
(a) have and disclose a process for periodically evaluating the 

performance of the board, its committees and individual 
directors; and 

(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether a 
performance evaluation was undertaken in the reporting 
period in accordance with that process. 

Performance Assessment 

The performance of the Board, Board Committees and 
individual Directors will be reviewed regularly by the Board 
under the direction of the Chairman.  Given the size of the 
Board this review is carried out informally. The performance 
criteria against which Directors are assessed will be set by 
the Chairman in line with the criteria set out in the Company’s 
Corporate Governance Policy. 

 

1.7 A listed entity should: 
(a) have and disclose a process for periodically evaluating the 

performance of its senior executives; and 
(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether a 

performance evaluation was undertaken in the reporting 
period in accordance with that process. 

The Board has not adopted a formal process whereby it 
periodically evaluates the performance of the Managing 
Director.  Given the size of the Board, this evaluation is 
carried out informally. 

The Managing Director evaluates the performance of senior 
management annually against Key Performance Indicators 
(KPI’s), including measuring actual performance against 
planned performance.   
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Corporate Governance Statement 
(continued) 

 
 

 BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATION COMMENT 

2. Structure the board to add value  

2.1 The board of a listed entity should: 
(a) have a nomination committee which: 

(1) has at least three members, a majority of whom are 
independent directors; and 

(2) is chaired by an independent director, 
and disclose: 
(3) the charter of the committee; 
(4) the members of the committee; and 
(5) as at the end of each reporting period, the number of 

times the committee met throughout the period and the 
individual attendances of the members at those 
meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have a nomination committee, disclose that fact 
and the processes it employs to address board 
succession issues and to ensure that the board has the 
appropriate balance of skills, knowledge, experience, 
independence and diversity to enable it to discharge its 
duties and responsibilities effectively. 

The Board has not established a Nominations Committee. 
The Board as a whole carries out the functions of a 
Nominations Committee, and PayGroup believes this is 
appropriate for a Company of its size and business. The 
Board seeks to ensure that it has an appropriate mix of skills 
necessary to fulfil its obligations.  

 

2.2 A listed entity should have and disclose a board skills matrix 
setting out the mix of skills and diversity that the board currently 
has or is looking to achieve in its membership. 

Skills Matrix 

The Board regularly evaluates the mix of its skills, 
experience and diversity. The Board considers that 
collectively its directors have a level of skill, knowledge and 
experience that enables the Board to effectively discharge 
its responsibilities and duties (including the activities and 
industries outlined below). The mix of skills the Board is 
seeking to maintain, and to build upon, includes: 

• Human capital management services and software; 
• Finance and Tax (e.g.  financial management capability 

including accounting or related financial management 
qualifications); 

• Research and development; 
• Executive leadership; 
• Risk management understanding and experience; 
• Commercial acumen; 
• Strategic capabilities. 

Further detail about the skills, experience and expertise 
held by each Director in office is disclosed in the Director’s 
Report contained in the 2021 Annual Report.   

 
2.3 A listed entity should disclose: 

(a) the names of the directors considered by the board to be 
independent directors; 

(b) if a director has an interest, position, association or 
relationship of the type described in Box 2.3 but the board is of 
the opinion that it does not compromise the independence of the 
director, the nature of the interest, position, association or 
relationship in question and an explanation of why the board is 
of that opinion; and  

(c) the length of service of each director. 

Directors of PayGroup are independent when they are 
independent of management and free from any business or 
other relationship that could materially interfere with the 
exercise of their independent judgment. The following 
Directors are Independent: Mr Ian Basser, Mr David Fagan 
and Mr Shane Gild. 

The date of appointment of each Director is set out in the 
Directors’ Report Section of the 2022 Annual Report. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
(continued) 

 
 

 BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATION COMMENT 

2.4 A majority of the board of a listed entity should be independent 
directors. 

At the date of this report and during the period a majority of 
directors were independent directors. 

2.5 The chair of the board of a listed entity should be an 
independent director and, in particular, should not be the same 
person as the CEO of the entity. 

The Chairman is an independent director. The Chief 
Executive Officer is not the Chairman. 

 

2.6 A listed entity should have a program for inducting new directors 
and provide appropriate professional development opportunities 
for directors to develop and maintain the skills and knowledge 
needed to perform their role as directors effectively. 

The Company has an induction program for new directors. 

The Company has policies and procedures in place to assist 
Directors in fulfilling their responsibilities.  The Company 
has an informal process to educate new Directors about the 
nature of the business, including information on the 
Company’s core values, corporate and financial strategy, 
objectives, as well as its governance framework and 
operations.  

The Board receives ongoing governance updates as 
required, including in relation to recent legislative and 
regulatory changes and developments in corporate 
governance.  All Directors have ongoing access to 
information on the Company’s operations and to the 
Company’s senior management.  The Company provides 
the capacity for any Director to obtain separate professional 
advice on any matter being discussed by the Board and for 
the Company to pay the cost incurred.   

3. Instil a culture of acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly  

3.1 A listed entity should articulate and disclose its values. The Company has articulated it values and published these 
on its website. 

3.2 A listed entity should: 
(a) have a code of conduct for its directors, senior executives 

and employees; and 
(b) disclose that code or a summary of it. 

The Board has drawn up a formal code of conduct to guide 
Board members, executives and employees in carrying out 
their duties and responsibilities, to guide compliance with 
legal and other obligations and to maintain confidence in the 
Company’s integrity.  Executives and employees are 
encouraged to report to Board members any concerns 
regarding potentially unethical practices.   

The code of conduct is disclosed on the Company’s website 
in the Corporate Governance Policy. 

 
3.3  A listed entity should: 

 (a) have and disclose a whistleblower policy; and 
(b) ensure that the board or a committee of the board is informed 
of any material incidents reported under that policy 

The Board has adopted a Whistleblower Policy the object of 
which is to provide a whistleblower reporting regime, and 
protection for whistle-blowers. The Whistle-blower Policy is 
disclosed on the Company’s website in the Corporate 
Governance Policy.  The CFO monitors incidents under that 
policy on behalf of the Board. 

 
3.4  A listed entity should: 

 (a) have and disclose an anti-bribery and corruption policy; and 
(b) ensure that the board or a committee of the board is informed 
of any material breaches of that policy 

The Company’s Code of Conduct contains Business Ethics, 
Ant-Bribery and Anti-Corruption sections.  The CFO 
monitors incidents under the Code of Conduct on behalf of 
the Board. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
(continued) 

 
 

 BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATION COMMENT 

4. Safeguard integrity in financial reporting  

4.1 The board of a listed entity should: 
(a) have an audit committee which: 

(1) has at least three members, all of whom are non-
executive directors and a majority of whom are 
independent directors; and 

(2) is chaired by an independent director, who is not the 
chair of the board, 

and disclose: 
(3) the charter of the committee; 
(4) the relevant qualifications and experience of the 

members of the committee; and 
(5) in relation to each reporting period, the number of 

times the committee met throughout the period and 
the individual attendances of the members at those 
meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have an audit committee, disclose that fact 
and the processes it employs that independently verify and 
safeguard the integrity of its corporate reporting, including the 
processes for the appointment and removal of the external 
auditor and the rotation of the audit engagement partner. 

Audit and Risk Committee 

The Board has established an Audit & Risk Committee 
however during the period determined that the work of this 
Committee should be carried out by the full Board. 

The leader of Audit & Risk Committee work at Board level is 
chaired by David Fagan, who is an independent chairman and 
who is not chair of the Board.    

The Board carries out the functions of this Committee twice a 
year, represented by one meeting to review each of the full 
year and half year financial reports and make 
recommendation to the Board. Further meetings may be held 
for discussion on policies and procedures and risk 
management matters.   

Meetings are attended by the accounting firm audit partner 
responsible for the Company’s audit when appropriate.   

A copy of the Company’s Audit & Risk Committee Charter is 
available on the Company’s website in the Corporate 
Governance Policy.   
 

4.2 The board of a listed entity should, before it approves the 
entity’s financial statements for a financial period, receive from 
its CEO and CFO a declaration that, in their opinion, the 
financial records of the entity have been properly maintained 
and that the financial statements comply with the appropriate 
accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the 
financial position and performance of the entity and that the 
opinion has been formed on the basis of a sound system of 
risk management and internal control which is operating 
effectively. 

The Board has obtained the relevant assurances from 
management. 

4.3 A listed entity should disclose its process to verify the integrity 
of any periodic corporate report it releases to the market that 
is not audited or reviewed by an external auditor 

Periodic reports that are not audited are prepared by 
management and reviewed by the Board prior to being 
released to ASX.  Where necessary, periodic reports are 
reviewed by the auditor for errors or omissions. 

5. Make timely and balanced disclosure  

5.1 A listed entity should: 
(a) have a written policy for complying with its continuous 

disclosure obligations under the Listing Rules; and 
(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it. 

The Company’s Corporate Governance Policy is designed to 
promote transparency and investor confidence and ensure 
that all interested parties have an equal opportunity to obtain 
information which is issued by the Company.  Additionally, the 
Company is committed to complying with the continuous 
disclosure obligations contained in the ASX Listing Rules and 
the Corporations Act 2001.  

A copy of the Company’s Corporate Governance Policy is 
available on the Company’s website.   

5.2 A listed entity should ensure that its board receives copies of 
all material market announcements promptly after they have 
been made 

The Board receives copies of all material announcements 
before they are made 

5.3 A listed entity that gives a new and substantive investor or 
analyst presentation should release a copy of the presentation 
materials on the ASX Market Announcements Platform ahead 
of the presentation 

New and substantive investor or analyst presentations are 
released to the ASX Market Announcements Platform ahead 
of the presentation 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
(continued) 

 
 

 
BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS COMMENT 

6. Respect the rights of shareholders  

6.1 A listed entity should provide information about itself and its 
governance to investors via its website. 

The Company provides information about itself and its 
governance on its website. All policies and charters 
concerning governance issues are located on a dedicated 
section headed Corporate Governance. 

6.2 A listed entity should design and implement an investor 
relations program to facilitate effective two-way 
communication with investors. 

The Company has in place a Disclosure to the Investment 
Community Policy, which promotes effective communication 
with shareholders. The Policy is available in the Corporate 
Governance Policy. 

6.3 A listed entity should disclose the policies and processes it 
has in place to facilitate and encourage participation at 
meetings of security holders. 

The Board encourages full participation of shareholders at the 
AGM to ensure a high level of accountability and identification 
with the Company’s strategy and goals.  

The 2022 Notice of Annual General Meeting will be provided 
to all shareholders and made available on the Company 
website.  

The external auditor is required to attend the AGM of the 
Company and is available to answer shareholder questions 
about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and 
content of the auditor’s report. 

Shareholders are able to communicate with the Company 
electronically and ask questions via the Company’s website 
or by email.  Investors are also able to communicate with the 
Company’s share registry electronically, by emailing the 
share registry or via the share registry’s website.  

6.4 A listed entity should ensure that all substantive resolutions at 
a meeting of security holders are decided by a poll rather than 
by a show of hands 

In line with the ASX Listing Rules, all Listing Rule resolutions 
are determined by way of a poll. 

6.5 A listed entity should give security holders the option to 
receive communications from, and send communications to, 
the entity and its security registry electronically. 

The Company gives security holders the option to receive 
communications from, and send communications to, the 
entity and its security registry electronically. 

7. Recognise and manage risk  

7.1 The board of a listed entity should: 
(a) have a committee or committees to oversee risk, each 

of which: 
(1) has at least three members, a majority of whom are 

independent directors; and 
(2) is chaired by an independent director, 
and disclose: 
(3) the charter of the committee; 
(4) the members of the committee; and 
(5) as at the end of each reporting period, the number 

of times the committee met throughout the period 
and the individual attendances of the members at 
those meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have a risk committee or committees that 
satisfy (a) above, disclose that fact and the processes it 
employs for overseeing the entity’s risk management 
framework. 

The Board is responsible for ensuring that adverse risks and 
mitigation of these risks are identified on a timely basis and 
that the Company’s objectives and activities are aligned with 
the risks and opportunities identified. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
(continued) 

 
 

 BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS COMMENT 

7.2 The board or a committee of the board should: 

(a) review the entity’s risk management framework at 
least annually to satisfy itself that it continues to be 
sound; and 
 

(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, 
whether such a review has taken place. 

Management undertakes detailed risk assessments of the 
Company’s operations, procedures and processes and 
reports to the Board on a regular basis. A final review has not 
taken place in the financial year ended 31 March 2022. 

7.3 A listed entity should disclose: 

(a) if it has an internal audit function, how the function is 
structured and what role it performs; or 
 

(b) if it does not have an internal audit function, that fact 
and the processes it employs for evaluating and 
continually improving the effectiveness of its risk 
management and internal control processes. 

The Company does not currently have an internal audit 
function.  Management reviews the Company’s major 
business units, organisational structure and accounting 
controls and processes on a regular basis and reports 
accordingly to the Board.  The Board is satisfied that the 
processes in place to identify the Company’s material 
business risks are appropriate and that these risks are being 
effectively managed.  The Company’s risk management 
processes are monitored and reported against on an ongoing 
basis. 

7.4 A listed entity should disclose whether it has any material 
exposure to economic, environmental and social sustainability 
risks and, if it does, how it manages or intends to manage 
those risks. 

The Company does not have any economic, environmental 
and social sustainability risks over and above those of every 
commercial organisation, and not already disclosed to 
security holders. 

8. Remunerate fairly and responsibly 
 

8.1 The board of a listed entity should: 

(a) have a remuneration committee which: 
(1) has at least three members, a majority of whom 

are independent directors; and 
(2) is chaired by an independent director, 
(3) and disclose: 
(4) the charter of the committee; 
(5) the members of the committee; and 
(6) as at the end of each reporting period, the 

number of times the committee met throughout 
the period and the individual attendances of the 
members at those meetings; or 
 

(b) if it does not have a remuneration committee, 
disclose that fact and the processes it employs for 
setting the level and composition of remuneration for 
directors and senior executives and ensuring that 
such remuneration is appropriate and not excessive. 

The Company does have a Remuneration Committee which 
is responsible for:  

• determining and reviewing compensation 
arrangements for the Directors and the Managing 
Director; and 
 

• approving parameters within which the review of the 
compensation arrangements for the senior 
executive team can be conducted by the Managing 
Director.   

The Charter for the Committee is in the Corporate 
Governance Policy.  

The members of the Committee, and the number of times the 
Committee met, are set out in the 2022 Annual Report.  
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Corporate Governance Statement 
(continued) 

 
 

 BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS COMMENT 

8.2 A listed entity should separately disclose its policies and 
practices regarding the remuneration of non-executive 
directors and the remuneration of executive directors and 
other senior executives. 

Details of Directors’ and key management personnel 
remuneration for the period ending 31 March 2022 are set out 
in the Remuneration Report (contained in the 2022 Annual 
Report).   

The structure of non-executive Directors’ remuneration is 
distinct from that of executives. 

Further details in relation to the Company’s remuneration 
policies (including its equity-based remuneration policies) are 
contained in the Remuneration Report, within the Directors’ 
report. 

8.3 A listed entity which has an equity-based remuneration 
scheme should: 
(a) have a policy on whether participants are permitted to 

enter into transactions (whether through the use of 
derivatives or otherwise) which limit the economic risk of 
participating in the scheme; and 

(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it. 

The Company’s Employee Share Plan (ESP) provides an 
interest free loan to selected senior employees which are 
subject to escrow for 2 years.  The Shares issued under the 
ESP cannot be dealt with or encumbered in any way during 
the escrow period. 
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Directors’ report 

 
 
The Directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as “the Group”, 
“PYG”, or “PayGroup”) consisting of PayGroup Limited and its controlled entities at the end of, or during, the year ended 31 March 2022. 
 
Directors 
 
The following persons were directors of PayGroup Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of this report, unless 
otherwise stated: 
 
 Ian Basser, Non-Executive Director (Independent) 

  

Experience Ian was appointed to the Board in July 2017 as an independent Non‑Executive Director and 
Chairman. Ian has over 35 years’ experience in starting, running and building service 
companies around the world including Australia, Hong Kong, China, Singapore, USA, UK and 
Europe. He was Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director of Chandler Macleod Group 
Limited until August 2012.  
 
Prior to joining Chandler Macleod, he spent five years establishing and developing the Mettle 
Group as a strategic leadership and culture consultancy. Prior to Mettle Group, Ian was Group 
Managing Director of Harvey Nash running operations in the UK, Europe and Asia. Prior to 
Harvey Nash, he was on the global management team of Michael Page International building 
operations in Australia, Asia and North America.  
 

Directorships held in other listed 
entities during the three years prior to 
the current period 

None 

 
 Mark Samlal, Managing Director 

  

Experience Mark co‑founded Pay Asia Pte Ltd (PayAsia) in 2006 where he was Non‑Executive Chairman 
until being appointed to the role of Executive Chairman and Managing Director of PayAsia in 
July 2015. In July 2017, he was appointed to the Board of PayGroup and to the role of Managing 
Director of the Group.  
 
Mark has over 25 years’ experience in leadership roles in Asia Pacific including being a Director 
and General Manager of ADP in Asia Australia (1999‑2003). His previous senior roles included 
Chief Executive Officer VicPlas Ltd a Singapore Stock Exchange listed company in 
(2008‑2014) and Executive Director of Omni Industries in Singapore (2006‑2008). Mark is 
affiliated with the major shareholder and is based in Singapore. Mark has not held Directorships 
in other listed entities during the three years prior to the current period. 
 

Special Responsibilities Chief Executive Officer 
 

Directorships held in other listed 
entities during the three years prior to 
the current period 

None 

 
 David Fagan, Non-Executive Director (Independent) and Chair of Audit Committee 

  

Experience David was appointed to the Board in July 2017 as a Non‑Executive Director. He is the chair of 
the Audit and Risk Committee. David was a commercial lawyer for over 40 years including over 
30 years with Clayton Utz culminating in the role of Board Member and National Chief Executive 
Partner (2001 – 2010). 
 
David holds Non-Executive Director roles in ASX listed Medibank Private Limited (ASX:MPL) 
(since 2014) including Chair of the Board Risk Management Committee and UBS Grocon Real 
Estate Investment Management (from March 2014 to December 2020). David is also a 
Chairman of BDO Group Holdings Limited. David has both a Bachelor and Master of Laws from 
University of Melbourne. 
 

Directorships held in other listed 
entities during the three years prior to 
the current period 

Medibank Private Limited (ASX:MPL) 
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 Franck Neron-Bancel, Executive Director 

  

Experience Franck joined PayAsia in May 2017 as an adviser and was appointed to the Board of PayGroup 
in July 2017 as Executive Director and Chief Strategy Officer. Franck has over 22 years’ 
industry experience in global HCM and payroll services with global leader Automatic Data 
Processing, Inc. (NASDAQ: ADP, Market Cap: USD 63 billion). Franck’s tenure at ADP 
culminated in the role of Senior Vice President Strategic Account Management (2013‑2017), 
with reporting to the ADP Global Enterprise Solutions President. 
 
Franck holds a Bachelor’s Degree (General Management, Finance & Marketing) from KEDGE 
Business School and is based in New York, United States of America.  
 

Special Responsibilities Chief Strategy & Alliances Officer 
 

Directorships held in other listed 
entities during the three years prior to 
the current period 

None 

 
 Shane Gild, Non-Executive Director (Independent) 

  

Experience Shane was appointed to the Board on the 2nd of November 2020 as an independent Non-
Executive Director. With 23 years of equity capital market experiences and having recently left 
the Corporate Finance team at Canaccord Genuity,  
 
Shane has worked with a number of ASX emerging growth companies and institutional 
investors over his career. In addition to a successful 8 years at Canaccord, he worked for many 
years at Deutsche Bank in both Australia and London, was a senior member of the Equities 
executive team, and has been a Board member of Sustainable Nutrition Group since July 2021. 
In addition, Shane brings his experience with M&A strategy implementation and investor 
relations to the Board of PayGroup.  
 

Directorships held in other listed 
entities during the three years prior to 
the current period 

Sustainable Nutrition Group (ASX: TSN) 

 
Directors’ Shareholdings 
 

Director Number of ordinary 
shares 

Number of ordinary shares issued 
under employee share scheme 

Ian Basser   112,415 501,302 
Mark Samlal(1)   22,132,570 - 
David Fagan   66,250 222,964 
Franck Neron-Bancel   771,406 222,964 
Shane Gild   164,303 181,272 
  23,246,944 1,128,502 
 
(1) Shares indirectly held by Mark Samlal through related parties. 

 
 
Company Secretary 
 
Oliver Carton B Juris LLB remained Company Secretary for the year ended 31 March 2022.  
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Directors’ report 
(continued) 

 
 
Directors’ Meetings 

The table below sets out the number of meetings held during the 2022 financial year and the number of meetings attended by each 
Director. During the period, 10 Board meetings were held. 

Director Eligible to attend Attended 

Ian Basser   9 9 
Mark Samlal   9 9 
David Fagan   9 9 
Franck Neron-Bancel   9 9 
Shane Gild  9 9 
 
The Group has established Audit and Risk Committee and Remuneration committee, with all responsibility held and actions undertaken 
by the Board. This structure is reviewed annually by the Board. 
 
Operating & Financial Review 
 
Principal Activities 
 
PayGroup Limited and its controlled entities (the Group) is headquartered in Melbourne, Australia. 
 
The Group delivers mission critical payroll solutions and scalable Human Capital Management software to companies across over 82 
countries. 
 
The Group services the following sectors of the market: 
Corporates – employees within multi-national companies as well as the small to medium enterprises 
Workforce Management – contractors and contingent labour workforce 
Franchises – staff on flexible rostering 
 
The core activity of the Group is payroll, delivered through a combination of software and service, and includes the complex calculations 
of gross-to-net pay for employees, contractors and franchise staff across over 82 countries, as well as the mandatory lodgement of 
statutory information along with the payments of salaries and statutory monies directly associated with payroll. 
 
Beyond payroll, the Group also delivers core and strategic HCM modules to all sectors of the market including onboarding, rostering, 
timesheets, leave management, expense management, talent management, learning and development, and most recently, to 
accommodate for Covid-19 work conditions, the inclusion of facial recognition and temperature checks. 
 
The Group services over 2,800 clients across multiple industry sectors. 
 
Financial performance 

 FY22 
$ 

FY21 
$ 

FY22 vs FY21 
% 

Operating revenue   $26,232,825 $15,627,285 68% 
EBITDA   $1,007,708 $1,635,534 (38%) 
Cash flow from operating activities   $494,718 $1,594,103 (69%) 
Net profit (loss) after tax  ($357,804) ($510,697) 30% 

 FY22 
Cents per share 

FY21 
Cents per share 

FY22 vs FY21 
% 

Earnings per share      
Basic earnings per share  (0.32) (0.68) 53% 
Diluted earnings per share  (0.32) (0.68) 53% 
 
 
PayGroup reported a net loss after tax for the year ended 31 March 2022 of $357,804 against a net loss of $510,697 in the prior 
comparable period.   
 
Statutory revenue reported for the year was $26.2 million. PayAsia (inclusive of TalentOz) and PayAsia Management contributed $13 
million (31 March 2021: $8 million), AstuteOne contributed $8.1 million (31 March 2021: $7 million) and IWS contributed $5.1 million (31 
March 2021: nil). 
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Reported statutory EBITDA of $1 million for the year ended 31 March 2022 against EBITDA of $1.6 million for the year ended 31 March 
2021.  
 
The statutory result includes one-off costs associated with the acquisitions of $172K and one-off legal and advisory fees associated with 
the Astute performance earn-out and settlement as well as the Deel acquisition advisory fees 
 
Statement of Financial Position 
 
Cash on hand as at 31 March 2022 was $6.2 million. 
 
Uplift of $14.4 million in intangible assets against the 31 March 2021 reported balance were mainly driven by $13 million recognised as 
the fair value of the intangible assets acquired from the purchase of the IWS and remaining for the continued software productive 
development of the AstuteOne and HROnline SaaS platform. 
 
Share Placement 

PayGroup has issued 26.8 million new fully paid ordinary shares in the Company (“New Shares”). The Placement was completed in 
two tranches as follows: 

• the issue of 20.3 million New Shares raised approximately $11.4m under the Company’s available ASX listing rule 7.1 
(12,071,619 shares) and 7.1A (8,228,381 shares) placement capacity, with settlement date on 9 April 2021 (“Tranche 1”); 
and 

• the issue of 6.5 million New Shares to raise approximately $3.6 million, the shareholders approved the resolutions at a 
general meeting of the Company, held on 13 May 2021 (“Tranche 2”). 

New Shares have been issued under the Placement and will rank pari passu with existing shares in the Company. 

PayGroup also offered a non-underwritten share purchase plan (“SPP”) to existing, eligible shareholders. The SPP raised $0.65 million 
with 1.16 million shares was allotted and issued on 5 May 2021. 
 
Acquisition of IWS 
 
PayGroup acquired 100% of the issued capital of Integrated Workforce Solutions Pty Ltd (IWS) effective 1 May 2021. IWS provides a 
leading cloud-based platform delivering rostering, payroll and accounting services specialising in solutions for the franchise sector in 
Australia and New Zealand. IWS’s purpose built proprietary platform simplifies complex payroll administration and includes high margin 
modules for rostering, time and attendance, award interpretation, KPI and benchmarking tools, and bookkeeping. IWS has a large and 
captive client base of more than 1,000 customers, for which it processes in excess of 400,000 pay slips per annum. IWS has an 
established position as the provider for new franchise locations and preferred supplier to existing sites, and a customer retention rate in 
excess of 94%.  
 
The total transaction consideration of $12.5 million payable partially in cash ($8.7m) and the balance in payable in PayGroup shares 
($3.8m). In addition to the total consideration, the Performance Earn-out is also payable based on the achievement of key performance 
metrics in FY22 and FY23 – based on minimum revenue targets (95% of $6.2 million in FY22 and $7.4 million in FY23) and minimum 
gross margin targets (70%) for each earn-out period (FY22 and FY23 to June year-end). The maximum Performance Earn-out is 
calculated at 10% of the Initial Consideration for each earn-out period. All shares issued in consideration for IWS will be subject to a 24-
month escrow period. 
 
The IWS Acquisition will expand PayGroup’s offering into a new high-margin franchise vertical, strengthening the core payroll business, 
providing substantial cross-sell opportunities, and is expected to make a material contribution to PayGroup’s annualised recurring revenue 
(ARR). 
 
Acquisition of PayAsia Japan 
 
PayGroup acquired 100% of the issued capital of FF Partners Co., Ltd (PayAsia Japan) effective 1 July 2021. FFP is headquartered in 
Tokyo (Japan) and provides the complex payroll and social insurance management services to organisations in Japan. The total 
transaction consideration of $109k was paid partially in cash ($60k) and the balance in payable in PayGroup shares ($49k). FFP was an 
existing partner of PayAsia in Japan. 
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Business Strategies, Prospects and Risks for the Future Financial Years 
 
FY22 was a milestone year for PayGroup as we continued to deliver record financial performance. Throughout the year, PayGroup has 
continued to grow the scale of its core payroll business and now serves over 2800 enterprise clients, up from 2200 in FY21, with a 95% 
client retention rate and an average lifetime of 9 years. This has set a strong foundation for continued growth in FY23, as the Group 
maintains its focus on sustainable long-term revenue and earnings growth.  
 
During the year, PayGroup expanded their product offering to the franchise and retail sector across APAC through the acquisition of 
Integrated Workforce Solutions (IWS). PayGroup has now completely integrated the IWS platform with its existing product suite, enabling 
the Group to expand its offering to the franchise and retail sectors and leverage PayGroup’s existing international infrastructure to expand 
IWS reach to new international markets outside of Australia and New Zealand.  
 
PayGroup has successfully begun to generate material revenues from both enterprise and payee monetisation streams. During the year, 
the Group launched Accessing Wages Earned, a financial well-being tool, which is expected to drive additional high margin revenue in 
FY23. The current labour market conditions are expected to drive an uptick in the number of payees, presenting opportunities for further 
growth.  
 
The Global Partnership Program (GPP) contributed 31% of the new contracts signed in FY22. Throughout the year, the Company has 
invested in building the GPP through foundational investments in in-country partners and is now well positioned to serve its fast-growing 
customer base across 82 geographies. The GPP is a highly attractive stream of referrals and new contracts free of direct customer 
acquisition costs and discounted rates. As such, PayGroup expects higher GPP contribution margins from this sales channel, accelerating 
PayGroup’s trajectory towards realising further operating leverage. Additionally, a number of large partners were added to the GPP 
network during the year with SD Worx being the most notable addition. PayGroup will serve SD Worx entire customer base in APAC 
using its existing infrastructure, strengthening the strong pipeline of opportunities. 
 
In FY22, we achieved significant improvements in our cash flow position as we continued our trajectory towards achieving self-
sustainability. PayGroup achieved net cash outflow of $(0.2)m in 4Q FY22, down from $(6.2)m in 1Q FY22, demonstrating a significant 
evolution in the Company’s financial profile. Additionally, over the year PayGroup invested in enhancing its technology and platform 
capabilities. The Company is well positioned to deliver strong organic growth and accelerate its pathway to cash flow breakeven.  
 
 
Significant changes in the state of affairs 
 
The Group successfully completed institutional placement of shares for $15 million in April and May along with $0.65 million raised in 
share purchase plan (“SPP”) to existing eligible shareholders.  
  
Apart from the matters referred to above and within the subsequent event note, there were no other significant changes in the state of 
affairs of the Group other than that referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto. 
 
Subsequent Events 
 
On Thursday, 23 June 2022, PayGroup announced that it has entered into a Scheme Implementation Agreement (“SIA”) with leading 
global compliance and payroll company, Deel, and Deel Australia, to acquire 100% of the ordinary shares in PayGroup by way of a 
scheme of arrangement for cash consideration of A$1.00 per PayGroup share. Following consideration of the terms of the offer, including 
its view of the intrinsic value of PayGroup and the certainty for shareholders of the all-cash offer, the Board unanimously recommends 
that PayGroup shareholders vote in favour of the Scheme.    
 
Additionally, on Friday, 24 June 2022, 1,205,643 options exercisable at $1.10 expiring on 14 July 2023 and 1,205,643 options exercisable 
at $1.20 expiring on 14 July 2023 were cancelled. 
 
There has been no other matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial period, that has significantly affected, 
or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent 
financial years. 
 
Environmental Factors 
 
PayGroup is not subject to any significant environmental regulation under Australian Commonwealth or State law. PayGroup recognises 
its obligations to its stakeholders (customers, shareholders, employees and the community) to operate in a way that minimises the impact 
it has on the environment. 
 
Dividends 
 
No dividends were paid during the year ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021. 
 

  



PAYGROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT FY22                                                                                  17 

 
Directors’ report 
(continued) 

 
 
Indemnification of Directors, Officers and Auditors 
 
The Directors of PayGroup Limited are indemnified against liabilities pursuant to agreements with PayGroup Limited. PayGroup Limited 
has entered into insurance contracts with a third-party insurance provider, in accordance with normal commercial practices. Under the 
terms of the insurance contract, the nature of the liabilities insured against and the amount of premiums paid are confidential. The Group 
is not aware of any liability that arose under these indemnities as at the date of this report. 
 
During or since the end of financial year, the Group has not indemnified or made a relevant agreement to indemnify the auditor against a 
liability incurred as auditor. 
 
Proceedings on Behalf of Company 
 
No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the company or intervene in any proceedings to which the 
company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or any part of those proceedings. 
 
The company was not a party to any such proceedings during the period. 
 
Auditor’s independence declaration 
 
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on the following 
pages. 
 
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 306(3)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
On behalf of the directors 
 

 
 
Ian Basser 
Chairman 
30 June 2022 
Melbourne   
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Remuneration report 

This remuneration report provides details of PayGroup’s remuneration policy and practice for Key Management Personnel (KMP) for the 
year ended 31 March 2022. The information presented in this report has been audited as required under section 308(3C) of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and forms part of the Director’s report. 

Remuneration Policy 

The Directors present the consolidated entity’s 2022 audited remuneration report which details the remuneration information for PayGroup 
Limited’s executive directors, non-executive directors, and other key management personnel. 

For the purposes of this report, Key Management Personnel (KMP) are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing, and controlling the major activities of the business, directly or indirectly, as an executive.  

The names and positions of KMP in the Group during the whole of the financial year unless otherwise stated are: 

KMP Position Term as KMP 

Executive Directors (ED)  
Mark Samlal Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) Full year 
Franck Neron-Bancel Chief Strategy Officer Full year 

Non-executive Directors (NED) 
Ian Basser Non-executive Chairman Full year 
David Fagan Non-executive Director Full year 
Shane Gild Non-executive Director Full year 

Executive  
Elise Nguyen Chief Financial Officer Full year 

Principles used to determine nature and amount of remuneration 

The Directors agreed that, due to the size and structure of the Group and Board, that remuneration responsibility would be held by the 
Board.   

An annual review will be undertaken by the Board with changes made as deemed appropriate to the size, structure and needs of the 
Group.  

The Board can obtain professional advice where necessary to ensure that the Group attracts and retains talented and motivated directors 
and employees who can enhance performance through their contribution and leadership. During the year, the Board has engaged Korn 
Ferry to review the remuneration structure for KMP. The Group paid a consulting fee of $34,608 to Korn Ferry for the remuneration review, 
there were no other services provided by Korn Ferry. The board is satisfied that the remuneration recommendation was free from any 
undue influence of the KMPs. 

The guiding principles for determining the nature and amount of remuneration for KMP of the Group is as follows: 

• remuneration should include an appropriate mix of fixed and performance-based components,

• components of remuneration should be understandable, transparent, and easy to communicate; and

• Remuneration Committee / Board to review KMP packages annually by reference to the Group’s performance, executive
performance and comparable information from industry sectors.

The Board sets out to link remuneration polices with the achievement of financial and personal objectives. 

Results from the renumeration benchmark and framework study were reviewed by the Board confirming that PayGroup’s employees are 
paid within the industry spread for their role, responsibility, and seniority relative to the country with which they are employed in. 
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Group financial performance 

 FY 22 results demonstrates the Group’s ability to grow without compromising cash or margins.    

The table below summarises the Company’s financial performance over past three financial years: 

 FY22 
$m 

FY21 
$m 

FY20 
$m 

Operating revenue   26.2 15.6 10.2 
EBITDA   1.0 1.6 (0.6) 
Cash flow from operating activities   0.5 1.6 0.6 
Net profit loss after tax  (0.4) (0.5) (0.5) 
 
 FY22 

Cents per share 
FY21 

Cents per share 
FY20 

Cents per share 
Earnings per share      
Basic earnings per share  (0.32) (0.68) (3.57) 
Diluted earnings per share  (0.32) (0.68) (3.57) 
 
The Group has broadly retained the remuneration structure as outlined in the prospectus for the Directors. 
 

Components of remuneration 

Performance 
measurement 

The executive directors and other KMP are remunerated based upon market value of the position and the 
range of skills and experience they bring to the Group and, it is split between fixed and performance 
linked remuneration. 

 

Remuneration 
components 

Base salary Performance linked renumeration Directors’ fee 

Fixed remuneration will consist of 
base remuneration and employer 
contributions to superannuation 
/or its equivalent in other 
jurisdictions. 
 

Performance linked 
renumeration consists of Short-
term Incentives (STI) and Long-
term Incentives (LTI) via 
Employee Share Plan with key 
performance metrics tied to 
group objectives. 

Non-executive directors are 
remunerated with fees within the 
aggregate limit as approved by 
shareholders, noted as follows: 
 

• Ian Basser-           $100,000 
• David Fagan-        $85,000 
• Shane Gild-           $70,000 

 
 

Employee Share plan 

On 30 June 2021, 181,272 shares at fair value of $45,318 ($0.25 per share) were issued to director Shane Gild under an employee share 
plan. A limited recourse loan was provided to allow the employee to purchase the Plan Shares at the Company’s Offering price of $0.615 
per share, pursuant to the terms of the loan agreement. The Plan aims to recognise long-term performance by rewarding the Directors 
and key management with Performance Shares which will allow them to share in the growth in value of the Company. The Plan Shares 
are subject to voluntary escrow conditions of 24 months from date of issues and vest on issue.  
 
The fair value of share-based payment transactions was determined using a Black Scholes pricing model. The model requires certain 
inputs in order to determine an appropriate fair value. These inputs include share price at grant date, risk free rate, volatility factor, exercise 
price, time to maturity and expected dividend yield. 
 
The above fair value calculation was based upon the following inputs: 
 
Share price at grant date   $0.45 
Risk free rate   2.85% 
Volatility factor   75% 
Exercise price   $0.615 
Time to maturity   5 years 
Expected dividend yield  0% 
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Consolidated entity performance and link to remuneration 

Out of the total performance-based KMP bonus of $210,727 for the year,  $58,307 was settled via issue of 135,599 shares..  
 

Details of Remuneration 

Details of remuneration of the Directors and KMP of the Group are set out in the following tables 

Directors and other Executives Remuneration 
   

 
Short-term benefits 

$ 

Post- 
employment 

benefits 
$ 

 
Long-term 
benefits 

$ 

   

 
KMP 

 
Year 

 
Base salary/ 

fee 

 
 

Bonus  

 
 

Superannuation 

 
Employee 

Share Plan 

Total 
remuneration  

$ 

Total 
performance 

related 

 
Equity as a % of 

Total 

Mark Samlal 2022 392,872 96,376(1) 13,342 - 502,590 96,376 - 
 2021 348,548 - 13,188 - 361,736 - - 
Franck Neron-Bancel 2022 263,237 56,044(1) - - 319,281 56,044 - 
 2021 255,384 - - - 255,384 - - 
Ian Basser 2022 100,000 - - - 100,000 - - 
 2021 100,000 - - - 100,000 - - 
David Fagan 2022 85,000 - - - 85,000 - - 
 2021 85,000 - - - 85,000 - - 
Shane Gild 2022 70,000 - - 45,318 115,318 - 39% 
 2021 29,165 - - - 29,165 - - 
Elise Nguyen 2022 231,585  58,307(2) - - 289,892   58,307 20% 
 2021 206,403 - - 78,049 284,452 - 27% 
Total KMP 2022 1,142,694  210,727 13,342 45,318 1,412,081  210,727 7% 
 2021 1,024,500 - 13,188 78,049 1,115,737 - 7% 

 

(1) KMP bonus for Mark Samlal and Franck Neron-Bancel have been approved but not yet paid. 
(2) KMP bonus, performance-based remuneration for prior year ended 31 March 2021 was settled via issue of 135,599 shares valued at $58,307 on 2 December 2021. 

The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows: 

 
 
KMP 

 
 
Year 

 
 

Fixed remuneration 

 
 

At risk- STI 

 
 

At–risk - LTI 

Mark Samlal 2022 81% 19% - 
 2021 100% - - 
Franck Neron-Bancel 2022 82% 18% - 
 2021 100% - - 
Ian Basser 2022 100% - - 
 2021 100% - - 
David Fagan 2022 100% - - 
 2021 100% - - 
Shane Gild 2022 61% - 39% 
 2021 100% - - 
Elise Nguyen 2022 80% 20% - 
 2021 73% - 27% 
Total KMP 2022 82% 15% 3% 
 2021 93% - 7% 
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Details of Share Based Compensation 

Options 

No options have been issued to employees by the Company in the current year or prior year. 

Employee Shares 

The employee shares issued include 135,599 shares issued to Elise Nguyen as bonus employee entitlements and 181,272 shares to 
Shane Guild under employee share plan. 

Service Agreements 

The contracts for service between the Group and specified executives are formalised in service agreements. The major provisions in 
the agreements relating to remuneration are set out below: 

 Mark Samlal, Managing Director / Chief Executive Officer 

Criterion Arrangements 

Term of contract Ongoing. 
Notice period Termination by provision of six months’ notice by either the Executive or the Company 
Remuneration Fixed annual remuneration of SGD391,006 including superannuation/retirement benefits and 

director fees and a housing allowance of SGD2,550. 
 

 Franck Neron-Bancel, Executive Director and Chief Strategy Officer 

Criterion Arrangements 

Term of contract Ongoing. 
Notice period Termination by provision of 6 months’ notice by either the Executive or the Company. 
Remuneration Director’s fee of AUD70,000 per annum as Executive Director of PayGroup commencing from date 

of listing the company on the ASX and Consultancy fee of Euro10,336 per month. 
 

 Elise Nguyen, Chief Financial Officer 

Criterion Arrangements 

Term of contract Ongoing. 
Notice period Termination by provision of 2 months’ notice by either the Executive or the Company. 
Remuneration Fixed annual remuneration of SGD224,640 and short term incentive up to 30% of annual salary 
 

KMP Shareholding 

 
 
 
KMP 

 
 

Balance as at 1 
Apr 2021 

 
 

Employee shares 
issued as 

remuneration 

 
 

Shares issued as 
equity settled 
remuneration 

 
 

Other changes (2)  

 
 

Balance at end 
of year  

Mark Samlal (1) 22,118,470 – – 14,100 22,132,570  
Franck Neron-Bancel 994,370 – – – 994,370 
Ian Basser 560,145 – – 53,572 613,717 
David Fagan 284,749 – – 4,465 289,214 
Shane Gild 110,731 181,272 – 53,572 345,575 
Elise Nguyen 144,359 – 135,599 - 279,958 
Total 24,212,824 181,272 135,599 125,709 24,655,404 
 

(1) Shares indirectly held by Mark Samlal through related parties. 
(2) Other changes represents shares bought or sold on-market. 
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Transactions with KMP and/or their related party 

There were no transactions conducted between the Group and KMP or their related parties, apart from KMP remuneration as disclosed 
above.  These transactions were conducted in accordance with normal employee, customer or supplier relationships on terms no more 
favourable than those reasonably expected under arm’s length dealings with unrelated persons. 

 

This directors’ report, incorporating the remuneration report, is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors: 

On behalf of the directors 
 

 
 
 
Ian Basser 
Chairman 
30 June 2022 
Melbourne   



 

 

    

 

Grant Thornton 
Level 22 Tower 5 
Collins Square 
727 Collins Street 
Melbourne VIC 3008 
GPO Box 4736 
Melbourne VIC 3001 
 

T +61 3 8320 2222 
 

 

 

 

 
 

#7644735v1 

www.grantthornton.com.au 

ABN-13 871 256 387 
 

 

Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389 ACN 127 556 389. ‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms 
provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia 
Limited is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member 
firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not 
agents of, and do not obligate one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant 
Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 ACN 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. Liability 
limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

 

 

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

To the Directors of PayGroup Limited 

In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead auditor for the audit 

of Paygroup Limited for the year ended 31 March 2022, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, 

there have been: 

a no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 

the audit; and 

b no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 

 

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 

Chartered Accountants 

 

 

 

Eric Passaris 

Partner – Audit & Assurance 

 

Melbourne, 30 June 2022 

 

 

 

 



PAYGROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT FY22                                                                                  24 

 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 March 2022 

 
 

        

Notes 2022 2021 

Revenue 5 26,232,825 15,627,285 

Other income  5 938,517  584,074 
Foreign exchange gain / (loss)  (296,552) (162,473) 
    
Expenses:    
Subcontractors  (2,062,709) (1,408,912) 
Technology expense  (2,145,520) (1,424,501) 
Employee benefits expense  (16,955,224) (7,793,222) 
Rent and occupancy   (171,595) (223,713) 
Consulting and professional fee  (1,971,245) (1,787,497) 
Allowance for credit losses 7b (125,906) (28,786) 
Impairment of non-trade receivables 7b 599,768 (599,768) 
Travelling expenses  (142,405) (18,897) 
License fee  (1,496,743) (197,688) 
Other expenses  (1,395,503) (930,368) 
Profit/ (loss) before depreciation, amortisation, interest and income tax expense  1,007,708 1,635,534 
Depreciation and amortisation expense  (2,761,649) (2,264,589) 
Loss before interest and income tax expense  (1,753,941) (629,055) 
Interest income  38,432 25,142 
Interest expense  (195,427) (155,168) 
Net interest and financing costs  (156,995) (130,026) 
Loss before income tax expense  (1,910,936) (759,081) 
Income tax benefit 6 1,553,132 248,384 
Loss after income tax expense  (357,804) (510,697) 
 
Other comprehensive income 

   

 
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: 

   

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  99,213 (69,387) 
    
Items that will not be reclassified to the statement of profit or loss    
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plan  63,963 61,957 
Total other comprehensive (loss)/income for the period  163,176 (7,430) 
    
Total comprehensive loss for the period  (194,628) (518,127) 

 
  Cents per share Cents per share  
Earnings per share    
Basic earnings per share 12 (0.32) (0.68) 
Diluted earnings per share 12 (0.32) (0.68) 

 
The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated statement of financial position   
As at 31 March 2022 

 
 

 
Notes 

2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Assets    
Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 7a 25,312,644 12,111,732 
Trade and other receivables 7b 4,638,189 2,883,483 
Income tax recoverable  519,510 611,807 
Prepayments  285,579 163,196 
Contract assets 5 985,245 486,919 
Other assets 7d 373,034 788,667 
Total current assets  32,114,201 17,045,804 
Non-current assets    
Trade and other receivables 7b 844,682 473,928 
Right-of-use assets 10 726,323 1,461,408 
Property, plant and equipment 8a 392,853 251,023 
Intangibles 8b 33,097,333  18,723,564 
Deferred tax assets 8c 1,190,457 77,071 
Contract assets 5 1,681,144 1,131,721 
Total non-current assets  37,932,792  22,118,715 
Total assets  70,046,993  39,164,519 
Liabilities     
Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 7c 24,981,019  14,467,795 
Current tax liabilities  25,309  32,391 
Lease liability 10 602,694  619,750 
Provisions 8d 1,522,902  826,754 
Contract liabilities 5 808,724  350,098 
Total current liabilities  27,940,648  16,296,788 
Non-current liabilities    
Contract liabilities 5 1,257,812 644,971 
Lease liability 10 172,563 863,873 
Provisions 8d 703,108 532,744 
Total non-current liabilities  2,133,483  2,041,588 
Total liabilities  30,074,131  18,338,376 
Net assets  39,972,862  20,826,143 
Equity    
Issued capital 11a 62,519,759 43,672,726 
Reserves 11b (16,257,809) (16,915,299) 
Accumulated losses  (6,289,088) (5,931,284) 
Total equity 39,972,862  20,826,143 

 

 
The consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 31 March 2022 

 
 
 Issued capital Reserves Accumulated  

losses 
Total equity 

$ $ $ $ 
Balance as at 1 April 2020 36,213,927 (16,907,869) (5,420,587) 13,885,471 
Loss after income tax expense for the year – – (510,697) (510,697) 
Movement in foreign exchange – (69,387) – (69,387) 
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plan – 61,957 – 61,957 
Total comprehensive income/ (loss) – (7,430) (510,697) (518,127) 
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:     

Shares issued pursuant to TalentOz acquisition 1,534,567 – – 1,534,567 

Shares issued pursuant to PayrollHQ acquisition 2,473,617 – – 2,473,617 

Shares issued – capital raise 3,500,000 – – 3,500,000 

Cost of share issued recorded directly in equity (192,500) – – (192,500) 

Shares issued to settle supplier payment 35,387 – – 35,387 

Shares issued to settle employee entitlements 29,680 – – 29,680 

Shares issued under Employee share plan 78,048 – – 78,048 
Total transactions with owners in their capacity as owners 7,458,799 – – 7,458,799 
Balance as at 31 March 2021 43,672,726 (16,915,299) (5,931,284) 20,826,143 

 
Restated balance as at 1 April 2021 43,672,726 (16,915,299) (5,931,284) 20,826,143 
Loss after income tax expense for the year - - (357,804) (357,804) 
Movement in foreign exchange - 99,213 - 99,213 
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plan - 63,963 - 63,963 
Total comprehensive income/ (loss) - 163,176 (357,804) (194,628) 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:     

Shares issued – capital raise   15,000,000 - - 15,000,000 
Shares issued – share purchase plan 650,741 - - 650,741 
Shares issued pursuant to IWS acquisition 3,437,061 - - 3,437,061 
Shares issued pursuant to PayAsia Japan's acquisition 100,596 - - 100,596 
Shares issued to settle employee entitlements 155,963 - - 155,963 
Shares issued under Employee share plan 124,368 - - 124,368 
Shares issued to settle supplier payment 37,921 - - 37,921 
Financial liability settled in relation to Tranche 2 of PayrollHQ  
acquisition 

653,679 - - 653,679 

Cost of share issued recorded directly in equity (818,982) - - (818,982) 
Options issued to settle share placement fee (494,314) 494,314 - - 
Total transactions with owners in their capacity as owners 18,847,033 494,314 - 19,341,347 
Balance as at 31 March 2022 62,519,759 (16,257,809) (6,289,088) 39,972,862 

 
 

The consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 31 March 2022 
 

 
 
 

 
 

2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Cash flows from operating activities   

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST/VAT/SST) 29,563,239 19,211,296 
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST/VAT/SST) (29,187,817) (18,862,431) 
Government grants and tax incentives 276,291 1,340,121 
Interest received 38,432 25,141 
Interest and other finance costs paid (195,427) (120,024) 
Net cash generated from operating activities 494,718 1,594,103 
 
Cash flows from investing activities 

  

Payments for development of intangible assets (3,601,020) (2,566,163) 
R&D grant received 451,681 - 
Payments for purchase of plant and equipment (327,071) (131,526) 
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from acquisition, net of cash paid (note 15)     (7,972,050) (122,776) 
Payments for acquisition-related transaction costs  (171,616) (287,537) 
Net cash utilised by investing activities (11,620,076) (3,108,002) 
 
Cash flows from financing activities 

  

Proceeds from issue of share capital 15,650,741 3,500,000 

Payments for fund raise (818,982) (192,500) 
Repayment of principal on lease liability (759,640) (527,280) 
Net cash generated from financing activities 14,072,119 2,780,220 
   
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,946,761 1,266,321 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year (1) 

 
3,096,029 

 
1,967,603 

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 129,924 (137,895) 
   
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (1) 6,172,714 3,096,029 

 
 
 
 

The consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

  
 
 

 
(1) The cash and cash equivalents disclosed above do not include $19,139,930 (31 March 2021: $ 8,888,009) which are held in separate bank accounts held by 

the Group. These client monies are restricted for the purpose of payment of salaries to their employees, as part of payroll processing services and are therefore 
not available for general use by the Group. Refer to note 7c for the corresponding liability account. The client money is not included in the statement of cash 
flows. 
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Note 1. Nature of operations 
 
PayGroup Limited and its controlled entities (the Group) is headquartered in Melbourne, Australia. 
 
The Group delivers mission critical payroll solutions and scalable Human Capital Management software to companies across over 
82 countries. 
 
The Group services the following sectors of the market: 

- Corporates – employees within multi-national companies as well as the small to medium enterprises 
- Workforce Management – contractors and contingent labour workforce 
- Franchises – staff on flexible rostering 

 
The core activity of the Group is payroll, delivered through a combination of software and service, and includes the complex 
calculations of gross-to-net pay for employees, contractors and franchise staff across over 82 countries, as well as the mandatory 
lodgement of statutory information along with the payments of salaries and statutory monies directly associated with payroll. 
 
Beyond payroll, the Group also delivers core and strategic HCM modules to all sectors of the market including onboarding, 
rostering, timesheets, leave management, expense management, talent management, learning and development, and most 
recently, to accommodate for Covid-19 work conditions, the inclusion of facial recognition and temperature checks. 
 
The Group services over 2,800 clients across multiple industry sectors. 
 
Note 2. General information and basis of preparation 
 
Introduction 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group are for the year ended 31 March 2022 and are presented in Australian Dollars 
($AUD), which is the functional currency of the parent company. PayGroup is a company limited by shares whose shares are 
traded on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX). PayGroup is incorporated and domiciled in Australia.   
 
Principles of consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial report incorporates the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of PayGroup Ltd (‘Group’ or ‘parent 
entity’) as at 31 March 2022.  PayGroup Ltd and its subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report as the ‘Group’. 
 
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has control.  The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, 
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to 
direct the activities of the entity.  Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the Group are eliminated.  
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the assets transferred.  
Accounting policies of the subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 
the Group. 
 
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting.  A change in ownership interest, 
without the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the consideration transferred 
and the book value of the share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised directly in equity attributable to the parent. 
 
Where the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities and non-controlling 
interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. The Group recognises the fair 
value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment retained together with any gain or loss in profit or loss.  
 
Basis of preparation 

PayGroup Limited (the ‘Company’) is a for profit company domiciled in Australia. The full year financial report is a general purpose 
financial report comprising the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the ‘Group’ or ‘PayGroup’) for the year 
ended 31 March 2022. The full year financial statements: 

 have been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), Australian Accounting Standards and 
interpretations, and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS); 

 were authorised for issue by the Directors on 30 June 2022; 
 have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments and investments in financial 

assets which have been measured at fair value; and 
 have all amounts presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise stated. 
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New standards adopted as at 1 April 2021 
 
In the current period, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to its operations and effective for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 
1 April 2021 including the following: 

— AASB 2020-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
Interest rate benchmark reform – Phase 2 

— AASB 2021-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
COVID-19 related rent concessions 

None of these standards have had a material impact on the Group in the current period and are not expected to have a material 
impact in future reporting periods or on foreseeable future transactions. 
 
 
Standards in issue but not yet effective 
 
At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the following new accounting standards, amendments and interpretations have 
been published that are not mandatory for 31 March 2022 reporting periods and have not yet been applied by the Group within 
this financial report: 
 

— AASB 2014-10 Consolidated Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates (amendments) 
Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture 
 

— AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 

— AASB 2020-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
Disclosure of Accounting Policies and Definition of Accounting Estimates 

— AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
Annual improvements 2018-2020 and other amendments 

The Group does not believe these new accounting standards, amendments and interpretations will have a material impact on the 
financial statements of the Group in future periods. 
 
Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
 
When preparing the financial statements, management undertakes a number of judgements, estimates and assumptions about 
recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The actual results may differ from the judgements, 
estimates and assumptions made by management, and will seldom equal the estimated results. 
 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the Group is of the opinion that there are no instances of application 
of judgement which are expected to have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial report, except from those 
involving estimate and as follows: 
 
 Capitalisation of intangibles  

 
Costs directly attributable to the development of computer software are capitalised as intangible assets when the Group 
judges that the technical feasibility of the project is demonstrated, the Group has the intention and ability to complete and 
use the software and the cost can be measured reliably. Such costs include purchases of materials and services and payroll 
related costs of employees directly involved in the project. Research costs are recognised as an expense when incurred. 

 
  Determination of functional currency of the entities in the Group 

 
The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates requires the company and the entities in the Group to determine its 
functional currency to prepare the financial statements. When determining its functional currency, the company and the 
entities in the Group consider the primary economic environment in which it operates, i.e., the one in which it primarily 
generates and expends cash. The company and the entities in the Group may also consider the funding sources. 
Management applied its judgment and determined that the functional currency of the company is Australian dollars. 

The Group believes that there are no key assumptions made concerning the future and other key sources of  estimation uncertainty  
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial period, except as disclosed within the notes to the financial statements. 
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Note 3. Significant accounting policies 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial information are set out below. These policies have 
been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
a. Going concern 
 
In preparing the financial report, the Directors have made an assessment of the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern, 
which contemplates the continuity of business operations, realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course 
of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report. 
 
The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group will have adequate resources to continue to meet its obligations as 
they fall due. 
 
b. Current and non-current classification 
 
Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification.  
 
An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the Group’s 
normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 months after the 
reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 
least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current.  
 
A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the Group’s normal operating cycle; it is held primarily 
for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no unconditional right to 
defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 
 
c. Fair value measurement  
 
When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair value 
is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the principal market; or in the 
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 
 
Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 
they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its highest and best 
use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair 
value are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs, and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
d. Financial instruments 
 
Recognition and derecognition 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
financial instrument. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the 
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is 
extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 
 
Subsequent measurement of financial assets 
 
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, 
are classified into the following four categories:  
 
1. Financial assets at amortised cost 
2. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
3. Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 
4. Equity instruments at FVTOCI 
 
All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance costs, finance 
income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented separately. 
 
Trade and other receivables 
 
The Group makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables and records the loss allowance at 
the amount equal to the expected lifetime credit losses. In using this practical expedient, the Group uses its historical experience, 
external indicators and forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit losses. 
 
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities 
 
The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings, leases, trade and other payables. 
 
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the Group 
designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. 
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Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except for financial liabilities 
designated at FVPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. 
 
All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or loss are included 
within finance costs or finance income. 
 
e. Business combinations 
 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations regardless of whether equity instruments or 
other assets are acquired. 
 
The consideration transferred is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of the asset transferred, equity instruments issued, all 
liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the amounts of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. 
For each business combination, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree is measured at either fair value or the proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All acquisition costs are expensed as incurred to profit or loss. Payment of 
acquisition-related transaction costs to be classified under the cash flows used in investing activities in the consolidated statement 
of cash flows. The group has been previously presenting these costs under operating cash flows. The comparative period balances 
have been reclassified to conform with the current period presentation.   
 
On the acquisition of a business, the Group assesses the financial assets acquired and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with contractual terms, economic conditions, the Group’s operating or accounting 
policies and other pertinent conditions in existence at the acquisition date. 
 
Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group remeasures its previously held equity interest in the acquiree at 
the acquisition date fair value and the difference between the fair value and the previous carrying amount is recognised in profit 
or loss. 
 
Contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at the acquisition date fair value. Subsequent changes 
in the fair value of the contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is recognised in profit or loss.  Contingent 
consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 
 
The difference between the acquisition date fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree and the fair value of the consideration transferred and the fair value of any pre-existing investment in the acquiree is 
recognised as goodwill. If the consideration transferred and the pre-existing fair value is less than the fair value of the identifiable 
net assets acquired, being a bargain purchase to the acquirer, the difference is recognised as a gain directly in profit or loss by 
the acquirer on the acquisition date, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net assets 
acquired, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree, if any, the consideration transferred and the acquirer’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree. 
 
f. Goods and Services Tax (GST) and other similar taxes 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable 
from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.  
 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of financial position. 
 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which 
are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority. 

 
g. Foreign currency translation 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries and 
are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction 
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end 
of the reporting period.  
 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 
as at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the end of the reporting 
period are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
The results and financial position of all the Group entities are translated into Australian dollars (AUD) as follows: 
 Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rates at the date of the statement of financial position. 
 Income and expenses are translated at average rates for the year, which approximates the exchange rates at the dates 

of the transactions. 
 All resulting exchange differences are recognised in a separate component of equity as foreign currency translation 

reserve. 
 
On aggregation, currency translation differences arising from the net investment in foreign operations are taken to the currency 
translation reserve. 
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Note 4. Segment reporting 

a) An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenue and incur 
expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) in order to 
effectively allocate Company resources and assess performance. 

 
b) The Group has 3 reportable segments: PayAsia, Astute and IWS. In identifying its operating segments, management follows the 

geographical and revenue lines generated under each segment. Each segment performs the following main revenue activities: 
 

 
 PayAsia (including TalentOz) delivers predominantly SwaS payroll solutions and HCM platform as well as payroll 

Treasury, Lodgement and other payroll related services globally.  Most of its business is delivered in the APAC region. 
PayrollHQ provides a full suite of SwaS payroll outsourcing services for its clients across Australia and New Zealand. 
Payroll HQ was considered as a separate segment as disclosed in the 31 March 2021 annual report. For the year ended 
31 March 2022, PayrollHQ was aggregated with PayAsia segment due to similarity in services offered, processing 
solutions and customer base. 
 

 Astute provides SaaS payroll and workforce management solutions to Australian and New Zealand clients. 
 
 
 IWS provides a leading cloud-based platform delivering rostering, payroll and accounting services specialising in solutions 

for the franchise sector in Australia and New Zealand. 
 

 
c) Reportable segments: 

Year ended 31 March 2022 PayAsia Astute IWS Total 

Revenue:     
External revenues 13,048,717 8,097,943 5,086,165 26,232,825 
Inter-segment revenue 2,253,835 - 143,655 2,397,490 
Total revenue 15,302,552 8,097,943 5,229,820 28,630,315 
Results:     
Profit/ (loss) before depreciation, amortisation, interest and income tax (1,373,541) 3,610,425 639,020 2,875,904 
Depreciation and amortization (888,764) (1,410,645) (462,240) (2,761,649) 
Profit/ (loss) before interest and income tax expense (2,262,305) 2,199,780 176,780 114,255 
Interest income 30,788 5,213 1,829 37,830 
Interest expense (110,020) (77,301) (7,695) (195,016) 
Profit/ (loss) before income tax expense (2,341,537) 2,127,692 170,914 (42,931) 
     
Assets and liabilities:     
Segment assets 29,616,913  17,483,183 16,372,955 63,473,051  
Segment liabilities 30,177,839 4,373,859 2,951,749 37,503,447 

 
Year ended 31 March 2021 PayAsia Astute IWS Total 

Revenue:     
External revenues 8,558,705 7,068,580 - 15,627,285 
Inter-segment revenue 3,287,939 600,000 - 3,887,939 
Total revenue 11,846,644 7,668,580 - 19,515,224 
Results:     
Profit/ (loss) before depreciation, amortisation, interest and income tax 474,493  2,861,093 - 3,335,586  
Depreciation and amortization (1,021,088) (1,243,501) - (2,264,589) 
Profit/ (loss) before interest and income tax expense (546,595)  1,617,592 - 1,070,997  
Interest income 22,264 2,251 - 24,515 
Interest expense (83,842) (66,517) - (150,359) 
Profit/ (loss) before income tax expense (608,173)  1,553,326 - 945,153  
     
Assets and liabilities:     
Segment assets 25,185,345 16,429,222 - 41,614,567 
Segment liabilities 17,871,972 4,396,139 -   22,268,111 
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d) The totals presented for the Group’s operating segments reconcile to the key financial figures as presented in its financial statements 
as follows: 

 Year ended 31 
March 2022   

Year ended 31 
March 2021 

 

i. Segment revenue 
 

   
 

 

Total reportable segment revenues   28,630,315 19,515,224 
Elimination of inter-segment revenue   (2,397,490) (3,887,939) 
Total revenue from continuing operations  26,232,825 15,627,285 
    

ii. Segment Operating Profit/(Loss)    
    
Total reportable segment operating profit/(loss)  (42,931) 945,153  
Corporate(1) Gain on fair value adjustment of contingent consideration  551,031 35,144 
Corporate(1) employee benefit expenses  (606,323) (181,530) 
Corporate(1) consulting and professional fees  (1,411,501) (1,103,013) 
Corporate(1) other expenses  (332,868) (404,183)  
Corporate(1) interest income  603 627 
Corporate(1) interest expense  (411) (4,809) 
Elimination and consolidation adjustments  (68,536) (46,470)  
Profit/(loss) before income tax expense  (1,910,936) (759,081)   

 
iii. Segment Assets 

   

    

Total reportable segment assets  63,473,051  41,614,567 
Corporate(1) assets including investment in subsidiaries  45,229,048 32,531,859 
Corporate(1) deferred tax assets recognized  1,190,457 - 
Elimination and consolidation adjustments  (39,845,563) (34,981,907) 
Total assets  70,046,993 39,164,519 

 
iv. Segment liabilities 

   

    

Total reportable segment liabilities  37,503,447 22,268,111 

Corporate(1) liabilities  607,366 1,490,397 

Elimination and consolidation adjustments  (8,036,682) (5,420,132) 

Total liabilities  30,074,131 18,338,376 
 

(1) Comprises of centrally managed costs, assets and liabilities relating to group employee benefits expense, professional and consultancy charges, intangibles, and tax. 

 
e) Geographical information: 

 
Revenue from external customers is attributed to geographic location based on the location of customers. The revenue from external 
customers and non-current assets by geographical location for the year ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021 is set out below; 

 2022 
Revenue ($) 

2021 
Revenue ($) 

2022 
Non-current assets ($) 

2021 
Non-current assets ($) 

Australia and New Zealand   15,651,202 7,646,724 31,929,897 16,505,525 
Asia   10,581,623 7,980,561 6,002,895 5,613,190 
  26,232,825 15,627,285 37,932,792 22,118,715 
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Note 5. Revenue 

Recognition and measurement 
 
Revenue arises mainly from the sale of outsourced payroll services and workforce management services. 
 
To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a five-step process: 

a. Identifying the contract with a customer 
b. Identifying the performance obligations 
c. Determining the transaction price 
d. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations 
e. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied. 

 
The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 
Revenue is recognised over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by transferring the promised goods or services 
to its customers. 
 
The Group recognises contract liabilities for consideration received in respect of unsatisfied performance obligations and reports these 
amounts as contract liabilities in the statement of financial position. Similarly, if the Group satisfies a performance obligation before it 
receives the consideration, the Group recognises either a contract asset or a receivable in its statement of financial position, depending 
on whether something other than the passage of time is required before the consideration is due. 
 
Implementation Revenue 
 
As part of sale of an outsourced payroll services contract, the Group will invoice for an implementation fee. Typically, the outsourced 
payroll services contract will be for a period of three years post implementation.  The implementation is deemed an unsatisfied service 
obligation with the satisfaction completed during the term of the contract. On this basis, the invoiced implementation fee is initially 
recognised in the balance sheet as a contract liability and then recognised in profit and loss over the term of the contract.  
 
Payroll Services 
 
The Group provides comprehensive payroll services to its clients, which include the complex calculations of gross-to-net payroll, the 
calculation of statutory elements of payroll, the lodgement of all mandatory statutory elements related to payroll, as well as the payments 
related to payroll including salaries and various pension funds. These services are provided by a dedicated team of operational executives 
of the Group who use multiple payroll engines to produce the pay calculations and the reports on a weekly, fortnightly, and monthly basis. 
The Group provides all payroll services based on a per payslip fee. Each client is invoiced on a weekly, fortnightly, or monthly basis 
depending on the contract terms, and the fee is a calculation of the total payslips produced for that client for that billing period. The per 
payslip fee is a recurring fee from each client and forms part of the revenue recognition upon delivery of the service. There are certain 
activities which are country specific but all of these form part of the regular and recurring invoicing. All costs associated with the delivery 
of these payroll services are taken into account when deriving the per payslip fee to each client. 
 
SaaS (Software-as-a-Service) revenue 
 
The Group provides its proprietary software solutions, including payroll, onboarding, rostering, timesheets, invoicing, talent management, 
performance management, learning and development, facial recognition, temperature checks, and others, (herein termed “HCM modules”) 
to its clients. The provision of this service is through a subscription of licence to the software for one or multiple HCM modules. The clients 
access the Group’s software directly. The Group charges a user-based subscription fee, usually invoiced on a monthly basis, and revenue 
is recognized on delivery of the service. The Group maintains and supports the software and provides support and maintenance as part 
of its service to clients. Any customisation work required by clients is also supported by the Group and charged separately as a fixed fee, 
calculated through an estimation of time required to carry out the customisation. This is agreed in advance with each client and forms part 
of the contract terms. 
 
Interest 
 
Interest income is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest rate method. 
 
Government grants 
 
Grants from the government are recognised as a receivable at the fair value when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received, and the Group will comply with all the attached conditions.  
 
Government grants receivable are recognised as income over the period necessary to match them with the related costs which they are 
intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants relating to expenses are shown separately as other income. 
Government grant income included within other income do not include employment-related government grants, these government grants 
are deducted against employee benefits expense. 
 
Government grants relating to assets are deducted against the carrying amount of the assets. 
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Revenue from continuing operations (1)                     
 2022 

$ 
2021 

$   

Payroll services   17,908,428 8,497,363 
SaaS (Software-as-a-Service) revenue   8,324,397 7,129,922 
  26,232,825 15,627,285 

 
(1) Revenue from continuing operations is recognized over the period-of-time. 

 

Other income                        
 2022 

$ 
2021 

$   
Government grant income (1)   250,969 474,583 
Gain on fair value adjustment of contingent consideration (2)   551,031 35,144 
Other (3)   136,517 74,347 
  938,517 584,074   

 

(1) Government grant income included within other income do not include employment-related government grants of $557,651 (31 March 2021: $1,165,538) which 
are deducted against the employee benefit expenses. Government grant income also excludes R&D Government Grants of $451,681 which are offset  against 
the capitalised R&D costs recorded under intangible assets. 
 

(2) Contingent purchase consideration payable pursuant to IWS and PayrollHQ’s acquisition were revalued at period end based on their fair value of PYG shares 
resulting fair value adjustment of $551,031 (31 March 2021: $35,144) recorded under other income. 

 
 

(3) Other income in prior year ended 31 March 2021 includes rent concessions of $62,368 obtained from the landlord, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The 
forgiveness of rent is unconditional and qualifies to be accounted using the practical expedient available in AASB 16 Leases. In applying the practical expedient, 
the Group recognised this forgiveness of rent as a negative variable lease payment in the consolidated statement of Profit and Loss. 

 

 

Contract assets 
 2022 

$ 
2021 

$   
Current     
Contract assets – Deferred customer set-up costs   985,245 486,919 
Non-Current     
Contract assets – Deferred customer set-up costs  1,681,144 1,131,721 
 
The contract assets relate primarily to the cost of activities to implement an outsourced payroll services contract but do not result in a 
transfer of services to the customer. The entity accounts for the initial setup / implementation costs such as costs of the design, migration 
and testing of technology platform. This resulting asset will be amortised on a systematic basis over the expected average life of the 
contract period. The entity expects to provide services relating to the technology platform.  
 
Contract liabilities 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

Current     
Contract liabilities – advances received   808,724 350,098 
Non-Current     
Contract liabilities – advances received  1,257,812 644,971 
 
The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advanced consideration received as initial set up fees from first time customers. Revenue is 
recognised on a systematic basis over the expected average life of the contract period.  
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Note 6. Income Tax Expense 

Recognition and measurement 
 
The income tax expense for the period comprises current tax expense and deferred tax expense. 
 
Current tax 
Current tax assets/liabilities are measured at the amounts expected to be recovered/to be paid to/from the relevant taxation authority. 
 
PayGroup Ltd and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax consolidated group under the tax consolidation 
regime. The head entity and each subsidiary in the tax consolidated group continue to account for their own current and deferred tax 
amounts. The tax consolidated group has applied the 'separate taxpayer within group' approach in determining the appropriate amount of 
taxes to allocate to members of the tax consolidated group. 
 
In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the head entity also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the 
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from each subsidiary in the tax consolidated group. 
 
Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts receivable from 
or payable to other entities in the tax consolidated group. The tax funding arrangement ensures that the intercompany charge equals the 
current tax liability or benefit of each tax consolidated group member, resulting in neither a contribution by the head entity to the 
subsidiaries nor a distribution by the subsidiaries to the head entity. 
 
Deferred tax 
Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during the period as well as 
unused tax losses. 
 
Except for business combinations, no deferred income tax is recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, where there is 
no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or 
the liability is settled and their measurement also reflects the manner in which management expects to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of the related asset or liability. With respect to non-depreciable items of property, plant and equipment measured at fair value 
and items of investment property measured at fair value, the related deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset is measured on the basis 
that the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered entirely through sale.  
 
Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised. 
 
Offsetting balances 
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is intended that net settlement or 
simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset 
where: (i) a legally enforceable right of set-off exists; and (ii) the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is intended that net settlement or 
simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in future periods in which significant amounts of 
deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled. 
 
Research and development tax incentive 
For the year ended 31 March 2021 a research and development tax incentive (R&D claim) was claimed for the first time. This was a 
refundable R&D claim that was received in cash during the year ended 31 March 2022. This has been accounted for as a government 
grant with the amount received credited to intangible assets in the year ended 31 March 2022 as this is where the related expenditure 
was accounted for in year ended 31 March 2021. 
 
For the year ended 31 March 2022 a research and development tax incentive (R&D claim) was also claimed. This is a non-refundable 
R&D claim that increases the amount of available tax losses. This has been accounted for as income tax. 
 
Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense   1,910,936 759,081  
Prima facie domestic effective tax rate of 25% (2021: 26%)   (477,734) (197,361) 
Adjustment for tax-rate differences in foreign jurisdictions   (411,357) 132,807 
(Over)/under-provision of tax in prior year   184,713 (54,970) 
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income:     
Other non-deductible expenses   508,306 (2,301,172) 
Withholding Tax   - $2,603 
Prior period tax losses brought to account   (1,684,350) - 
Current period tax losses not recognised   327,290 2,169,709 
Income tax (benefit)/expense  (1,553,132) (248,384) 
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The carry forward losses include capital losses of $12.3 million within Australia, and revenue losses of $5.9 million and $2.7 million within 
Australia and Singapore jurisdictions, respectively.  

Based on the future profitability and expected utilization of carried forward losses, the directors’ have formed an opinion to recognize the 
deferred tax assets on revenue losses.  The business will be in a position to satisfy the criteria for recognising these losses as a deferred 
tax asset. These losses remain available for the Group to use in the future. The directors on a regular basis will assess the recognition of 
the deferred tax assets. 
 
The benefits of deferred tax losses not brought to account can only be realised in the future if: 

 
- assessable income is derived of a nature, and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the deductions to be realized 
- conditions for deductibility imposed by law are complied with; and  
- no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the  realisation of the benefit from the deductions. 

 
 
Franking credits 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

Franked dividends   - - 
Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate of 25%   7,250 7,250 
  7,250 7,250 
 
Key estimate and judgment: Taxation 
 
The Group has exposure to income taxes in the countries where it operates. Significant judgment is involved in determining the Group 
provision for income taxes. The Group  recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will 
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially  recognised, such differences will 
impact the income tax and deferred tax provision in the financial year in which the determination is made. 
 
AASB Interpretation 23: Uncertainty over income tax treatments 
 
AASB Interpretation 23 clarifies the application of recognition and measurement requirements of AASB 112: Income Taxes where there 
is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The Interpretation specifically addresses: 
 

 Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments collectively or separately; 
 That the entity should assume a tax authority will examine the uncertain tax treatments and have full knowledge of all relevant 

information; 
 That the entity should reflect the uncertainty in its accounts where it concludes that it is not probable that the tax authorities will 

accept the treatment adopted; 
 That the impact of the uncertainty should be measured using either the most likely amount or the expected value method, 

depending on which method best predicts the resolution of the uncertainty; and 
 That the judgements and estimates must be re-assessed whenever there is a change in circumstance or new information that 

affects the judgements. 
 
The Group has assessed the impact of AASB Interpretation 23 on the financial statements. The assessment concluded that the 
Interpretation did not have a material impact on the financial statements.  

 
Note 7. Financial assets and financial liabilities 
 
This note provides information about the group’s financial instruments, including:  
  

 an overview of all financial instruments held by the group  
 specific information about each type of financial instrument   
 accounting policies   
 information about determining the fair value of the instruments, including judgements and estimation uncertainty involved.    

The group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial instruments is discussed in note 13. The maximum exposure to credit 
risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of financial assets mentioned below. 
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(a) Cash and cash equivalents  
 

Recognition and measurement 
 
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits 
with financial institutions which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value, and bank overdrafts.  Bank overdrafts are presented 
as current borrowings on the balance sheet. For cash subjected to restriction, assessment is made on the economic substance of the 
restriction and whether they meet the definition of cash and cash equivalents. 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

Cash at bank   6,170,852 3,220,652 
Cash on hand   1,862 3,071 
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents   6,172,714 3,223,723 
Clients’ monies*   19,139,930 8,888,009 
  25,312,644 12,111,732 

 
*The cash and cash equivalents disclosed above include $19,139,930 (31 March 2021: $8,888,009) which are held in separate bank accounts held by the Group. 
These client monies are restricted for the purpose of payment of salaries to their employees, as part of payroll processing services and are therefore not available for 
general use by the Group. Refer to note 7c for the corresponding liability account. The client money is not included in the statement of cash flows.  

(b) Trade and other receivables 
 

Recognition and measurement 
 
Trade and other receivables include amounts due from customers for goods sold and services performed in the ordinary course of 
business. Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months after the reporting period are classified as current assets. All other 
receivables are classified as non-current assets. Trade and other receivables are recognised when the Group becomes party to a 
contractual provision. They are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire, or when the 
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. Trade and other receivables are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any loss allowance.  
 
The Group makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables and records a loss allowance at the amount 
equal to the expected lifetime credit losses.  In using this practical expedient, the Group uses its historical experience, external indicators 
and forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit losses. 
 
 
Key estimate and judgment: Trade receivable loss allowance 
 
The Group evaluates whether there is any objective evidence in relation to historical experience, external indicators and forward-looking 
indicators that indicate a loss allowance is required and determines an appropriate loss allowance.  If the financial condition of the 
customers were to deteriorate over and above the objective evidence obtained, actual write offs would be higher than estimated. 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

CURRENT     

Trade receivables   3,755,392 2,876,984 
Less: allowance for credit losses   (11,385) (111,104) 
  3,744,007 2,765,880 
Non-trade receivables   - 599,768 
Less: Impairment of non-trade receivables   - (599,768) 
Other receivables   894,182 117,603 
  4,638,189 2,883,483 
 
NON-CURRENT 

    

Other receivables   844,682 473,928 
  844,682 473,928 
 
Impairment and risk exposure 

The Group applies the AASB 9 simplified model of recognising lifetime expected credit losses for all trade receivables as these items do 
not have a significant financing component. In measuring the expected credit losses, the trade receivables have been assessed on a 
collective basis as they possess shared credit risk characteristics. They have been grouped based on the days past due and also according 
to the geographical location of customers. The expected loss rates are based on the historical payment profile as well as the corresponding 
historical credit losses during that period. The historical rates are adjusted to reflect current and forwarding looking macroeconomic factors 
affecting the customer’s ability to settle the amount outstanding. Contract assets were considered for impairment testing as part of the 
trade and other receivables. 

The group has identified gross domestic product (GDP) and unemployment rates of the countries in which the customers are domiciled 
to be the most relevant factors and accordingly adjusts historical loss rates for expected changes in these factors. However, given the 



Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
For the year ended 31 March 2022 

 

PAYGROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT FY22                                                                                  39 

short period exposed to credit risk, the impact of these macroeconomic factors has not been considered significant within the reporting 
period. 

Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the group’s exposure to credit risk are tabled below: 

Past due loans and receivables 
 2022 

$ 
2021 

$   

Past due under 30 days   800,534 494,376 

Past due 30 days to under 60 days   89,673 67,503 
Past due 60 days to under 90 days   19,138 46,871 
Past due 90 days and over   193,602 383,647 
Total past due loans and receivables  1,102,947 992,397 
Total loans and receivables  5,494,256 3,468,515 
     
Expected credit loss per the allowance for impairment matrix   11,385 111,104 
Expected credit loss (%), net  0.2% 3.2% 
 

Reconciliation of allowance for impairment 
 2022 

$ 
2021 

$   
Opening balance   111,104 158,505 

Additional expected credit loss allowance   125,906 28,786 
Receivables written off, net   (225,625) (76,187) 
Closing balance  11,385 111,104 
 

(c) Trade and other payables 

Recognition and measurement 
 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial period which are unpaid. 
The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are assumed to be the same as their fair values due to their short-term nature.   
 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

CURRENT     
Trade payables   1,692,774 1,398,473 
Advances of client's monies (note 7a)   19,139,930 9,015,703 
Accruals   1,576,309 890,338 
GST/VAT/SST payable   913,481 1,045,387 
Other payables   1,491,857 1,239,293 
Trade and other payables recognised at amortised cost   24,814,351 13,589,194 
     
Contingent purchase consideration payable pursuant to PayrollHQ’s acquisition (refer note 15)   - 878,601 
Contingent purchase consideration payable pursuant to IWS' acquisition (refer note 15)   166,668 - 
Trade and other payables recognised at fair value   166,668 878,601 

  24,981,019 14,467,795 
 
(d) Other assets 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

Deposits on leasehold properties    168,500 579,436 
GST receivables   204,534 209,231 
  373,034 788,667 
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Note 8. Non-financial assets and liabilities 
 
This note provides information about the group's non-financial assets and liabilities, including:   
 
• specific information about each type of non-financial asset and non-financial liability 

- property, plant and equipment (note 8(a)) 

- intangible asset (note 8(b)) 

- deferred tax balances (note 8(c)) 

- provisions and employee benefit obligations (note 8(d))  

• accounting policies   

• information about determining the fair value of the assets and liabilities, including judgements and estimation uncertainty involved.   
 
 

(a) Property, plant and equipment 
 
Recognition and measurement 
 
Plant & equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairments. Depreciation is calculated on a 
straight-line basis so as to write off the cost over their expected useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 
Leasehold improvements 5 years or shorter of lease term  
Renovation  3 years 
Furniture & fittings  3 years 
Office equipment  3 - 10 years 
Computers  3 years 
 
Fully depreciated plant & equipment are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use. The residual values and useful 
lives of plant & equipment are reviewed at the end of each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. Plant and 
equipment are tested for impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or indication that these assets maybe impaired. 
 

Impairment of assets  
 
Plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment wherever there is any indication that these assets may be impaired. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount (i.e., the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use) of the asset is estimated to determine 
the amount of impairment loss.  
 
For the purpose of impairment testing of these assets, recoverable amount is determined on an individual basis unless the asset does not 
generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the 
cash generating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs.  
 
If the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU 
is reduced to its recoverable amount.  
 
The impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimate used to determine 
the assets recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill is 
increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of 
impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
Key estimation uncertainty: Depreciation 
 
Plant and equipment are depreciated and amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives, after taking into account the 
estimated residual value. The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of the assets regularly in order to determine the amount of 
depreciation expense to be recorded during any reporting period. Any changes in the economic useful lives or residual values could impact 
the depreciation charges and consequently affect the Group's results. 
 
Key estimation uncertainty: Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Plant and equipment are tested for impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or indication that these assets maybe impaired. 
 
The recoverable amount of these assets and, where applicable, cash generating units, have been determined based on value in use 
calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the 
expected future cash flows from the cash generating unit (or group of cash generating units) and also to use many estimates and 
assumptions such as future market growth, forecast revenue and costs, useful lives and utilisation of the assets, discount rates and other 
factors. 
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Cost: 

Leasehold 
Improvement & 

Renovations 
$ 

 
Office 

Equipment 
$ 

 
Furniture & 

Fittings 
$ 

 
 

Computers 
$ 

 
 

Total 
$ 

Balance 1 April 2020 224,572 232,771 214,873 172,272 844,488 
Additions – 93,988 106 37,432 131,526 
Acquired as part of the TalentOz acquisition 1 July 2020 – 10,751 1,850 18,274 30,875 
Acquired as part of the PayrollHQ acquisition 1 December 2020 – – – 23,410 23,410 
Balance 31 March 2021 224,572 337,510 216,829 251,388 1,030,299 
Additions - 7,907 - 319,164 327,071 
Acquired as part of the IWS acquisition 1 May 2021 139,080 19,592 - 39,331 198,003 
Reclassified to intangible assets - (82,962) - - (82,962) 
Write-off (161,279) (2,504) (6,364) - (170,147) 
Balance 31 March 2022 202,373 279,543 210,465 609,883 1,302,264 
      

Accumulated depreciation:      
Balance 1 April 2020 180,856 169,555 213,961 98,182 662,554 
Charge for the period 34,241 29,681 2,504 35,502 101,928 
Acquired as part of the PayrollHQ acquisition 1 December 2020 – – – 14,794 14,794 
Balance 31 March 2021 215,097 199,236 216,465 148,478 779,276 
Charge for the period 8,697 34,863 364 81,989 125,913 
Acquired as part of the IWS acquisition 1 May 2021 139,080 15,540 - 25,502 180,122 
Write-off (160,501) (9,035) (6,364) - (175,900) 
Balance 31 March 2022 202,373 240,604 210,465 255,969 909,411 
 
Net Book Value:      
Balance 31 March 2021 9,475 138,274 364 102,910 251,023 
Balance 31 March 2022 - 38,939 - 353,914 392,853 

 
(b) Intangible assets 

Recognition and measurement 
 
Intangible assets include the Group’s aggregate amount spent on the acquisition of computer software and development costs.  Intangible 
assets with finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.  They are amortised in the profit 
or loss on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.  The Group has adopted an estimated useful life ranging between 5 - 10 
years. The useful life is measured from the date on which they are available for use. 
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised and are measured at cost less impairment losses. 
 
The useful life is determined by management at the time the software is acquired and brought into use and is regularly reviewed for 
appropriateness. For computer software licences, the useful life represents management’s view of the expected term over which the 
Group will receive benefits from the software, but not exceeding the licence term. For unique software products controlled by the Group, 
the life is based on historical experience with similar products as well as anticipation of future events which may impact their life such as 
changes in technology. Historically changes in useful lives have not resulted in material changes to the Group’s amortisation charge. 
 
Goodwill 
 
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is included in intangible assets. 
 
Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is calculated as the excess of the sum of: 

i) the consideration transferred; 
ii) any non-controlling interest (determined under either the full goodwill or proportionate interest method); and 
iii) the acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest; over the acquisition date fair value of net identifiable 

assets acquired. 
 
Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment annually and are allocated to the Group's cash-
generating units or groups of cash-generating units, representing the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored and not larger than an 
operating segment. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill related to the entity disposed of. 
 
Impairment of assets 
  
Intangibles are reviewed for impairment wherever there is any indication that these assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount (i.e., the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use) of the asset is estimated to determine the 
amount of impairment loss.  
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For the purpose of impairment testing of these assets, recoverable amount is determined on an individual basis unless the asset does not 
generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the 
cash generating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs.  
 
If the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU 
is reduced to its recoverable amount.  
 
The impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimate used to determine 
the assets recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill is 
increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of  
impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
Critical accounting estimates: Capitalisation of intangibles 
 
Costs directly attributable to the development of computer software are capitalised as intangible assets when the Group judges that the 
technical feasibility of the project is demonstrated, the Group has the intention and ability to complete and use the software and the cost 
can be measured reliably. Such costs include purchases of materials and services and payroll related costs of employees directly involved 
in the project. Research costs are recognised as an expense when incurred. 
 
Key estimation uncertainty: Amortisation 
 
Intangibles are depreciated and amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives, after taking into account the estimated 
residual value. Changes in the expected level of use and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the 
residual values of these asset, therefore future amortisation charges could be revised. 
 
Key estimation uncertainty: Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Intangibles are tested for impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or indication that these assets maybe impaired. 
 
The recoverable amount of these assets and, where applicable, cash generating units, have been determined based on value in use 
calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the 
expected future cash flows from the cash generating unit (or group of cash generating units) and also to use many estimates and 
assumptions such as future market growth, forecast revenue and costs, useful lives and utilisation of the assets, discount rates and other 
factors. 
 
 
 
Cost: 

 
Goodwill 

(refer Note 9) 
$ 

 
 

Software 
$ 

 
Software under 
development 

$ 

Customer 
contracts & 

relationships 
$ 

 
Trademark & 
tradename 

$ 

 
 

Total 
$ 

Balance 1 April 2020 2,289,938 9,305,874 1,347,314 1,210,034 200,000 14,353,160 
Acquired as part of the TalentOz acquisition 687,161 1,035,445 – – – 1,722,606 
Acquired as part of the PayrollHQ acquisition  2,513,944 – – 900,000 – 3,413,944 
Additions – 367,723 2,202,626 – – 2,570,349 
Reclassification – 2,501,500 (2,501,500) – – – 
Balance 31 March 2021 5,491,043 13,210,542 1,048,440 2,110,034 200,000 22,060,059 
Acquired as part of the IWS acquisition 1 May 
2021 

9,562,746 830,000 – 2,440,000 140,000 12,972,746 

Acquired as part of the PayAsia Japan 
acquisition 1 July 2021 

235,053 – – – – 235,053 

Additions – 83,356 3,517,664 – – 3,601,020 
R&D grant offset – – (451,681) – – (451,681) 
Reclassified from property and equipment – 82,962 – – – 82,962 
Transferred to Technology expenses – (145,252) – – – (145,252) 
Reclassification – 683,979 (683,979) – – – 
Balance 31 March 2022 15,288,842 14,745,587 3,430,444 4,550,034 340,000 38,354,907 
       
Accumulated amortisation:       
Balance 1 April 2020 – 1,628,756 – 143,259 16,667 1,788,682 
Charge for the year – 1,330,048 – 177,765 40,000 1,547,813 
Balance 31 March 2021 – 2,958,804  – 321,024 56,667 3,336,495 
Charge for the period – 1,454,365 – 445,352 65,698 1,965,415 
Transferred to technology expenses – (44,336) – – – (44,336) 
Balance 31 March 2022 – 4,368,833 – 766,376 122,365 5,257,574 
 
Net Book Value:       
Balance 31 March 2021 5,491,043 10,251,738 1,048,440 1,789,010 143,333 18,723,564 
Balance 31 March 2022 15,288,842 10,376,754 3,430,444 3,783,658 217,635 33,097,333 
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(c) Deferred tax asset/ (liability) balances 
 
The balance comprises temporary difference attributable to: 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

Plant and Equipment   247,670 52,137 

Intangible assets   (2,029,135) - 

Right-of-use assets   (153,151) - 

Contract assets   -396,753 - 

Contract liabilities   270,305 - 

Accruals and provisions   517,802 24,934 

Lease liabilities   174,105 - 

Carry forward tax losses   1,941,097 - 

Non-refundable carry forward R&D tax offsets   342,829 - 

Others   275,688 - 
Deferred tax asset/(liability)  1,190,457 77,071 
 
The deferred tax assets are recognized within Australia, Singapore, and India jurisdictions where effective tax rates are 25%, 17% and 
30%, respectively. 
 
(d) Provisions 

Recognition and measurement 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable the 
Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The  amount recognised 
as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account 
the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. If the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current 
pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
 
As at the reporting date, there were no material claims or disputes of a contingent nature against the Group and its subsidiaries. 
 
Employee benefit obligations 
  
The current portion of this liability includes all of the accrued annual leave and the unconditional entitlements to long service leave where 
employees have completed the required period of service. 
 
Defined contribution plan 
 
The Group contributes to the statutory provident fund as per Pay Asia Management Pvt Ltd’s Employees’ Provident Funds and 
Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952 and Employee’s State Insurance Scheme as per the Employees’ State Insurance Act, 1948.  
Gratuity 
 
Gratuity is a post-employment benefit and is a defined benefit plan taken up in Pay Asia Management Pvt Ltd. The liability recognised  in 
the Balance Sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the Balance Sheet date less the fair value of plan 
assets (if any), together with adjustment for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. Any asset resulting from this 
calculation is limited to past service cost, plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the plan. 
Independent actuaries using the Projected unit credit method calculate the defined benefit obligation annually. 
 
Actuarial gains or losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are credited or charged to the Other 
Comprehensive Income in the year in which such gains or losses arises. 
 
Short-term employee benefits  
 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to be settled wholly 
within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
 
Other long-term employee benefits 
 
The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by the employees up to the reporting date using 
the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on high quality corporate bonds 
with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
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 2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

CURRENT     

Provision for leave   1,466,435 774,734 
Provision for gratuity:     
   Internal employees (i)   10,898 9,662 
   Temporary employees (ii)   45,569 32,472 
Provision for make-good (iii)   - 9,886 
  1,522,902 826,754 
 
NON-CURRENT 

    

Provision for leave   124,765 55,525 
Provision for gratuity:     
   Internal employees (i)   112,910 92,097 
   Temporary employees (ii)   342,234 279,920 
Provision for make-good (iii)   123,199 105,202 
  703,108 532,744 
 
(i) Gratuity for internal employees 

Amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet are as follows: 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

Present value of the obligation as at the end of the year     

   Current portion   10,898 9,662 
   Non-current portion   112,910 92,097 
Net liability recognised in the balance sheet   123,808 101,759 
 
Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligation: 

    

Opening balance   101,759 75,723 
Service cost   25,509 23,295 
Interest cost   7,294 4,417 
Net actuarial (gain)/ loss recognised for the year   (8,535) 12,618 
Foreign exchange loss on translation   (2,219) (14,294) 
Net outflow   - - 
Defined benefit obligation as at the end of the year  123,808 101,759 

 

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income are as follows: 
2022 

$ 
2021 

$   

Service cost  25,509 23,295 

Interest cost  7,294 4,417 
Net actuarial (gain) recognised for the year  (8,535) 12,618 
Expenses recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income  24,268 40,330 
 
Amounts for experience adjustments for defined benefit plans for the current period are as follows: 

2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

Defined benefit obligation  123,808 101,759 

(Deficit)  (123,808) (101,759) 
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities  (5,514) 16,653 
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(ii) Gratuity for temporary employees 

Amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet are as follows: 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

Present value of the obligation as at the end of the year     

   Current portion   45,569 32,472 
   Non-current portion   342,234 279,920 
Net liability recognised in the balance sheet   387,803 312,392 
 
Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligation: 

    

Opening balance   312,392 308,771 
Service cost   116,687 113,709 
Interest cost   21,085 18,440 
Net actuarial (gain) recognised for the year   (55,428) (74,575) 
Foreign exchange loss on translation   (6,933) (53,953) 
Net outflow   - - 
Defined benefit obligation as at the end of the year  387,803 312,392 

 

The amounts recognised  in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income are as follows: 

2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

Service cost  116,687 113,709 

Interest cost  21,085 18,440 
Net actuarial  (gain) recognised for the year  (55,428) (74,575) 
Expenses recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income  82,344 57,574 
 
Amounts for experience adjustments for defined benefit plans for the current period are as follows: 

2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

Defined benefit obligation  387,803 312,392 

(Deficit)  (387,803) (312,392) 
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities  (49,455) (72,308) 
 

Assumptions used in the valuations of gratuity for the year ended 31 March 2022 are as below: 

 Internal Employees Temporary employees 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

2022 
% 

2021 
% 

Discount rate 7.46% 7.19% 7% 6.77% 
Future salary increase 7% 7% 7% 7% 
Attrition rate 15% 15% 28% 28% 
Retirement age 58 58 58 58 
 

(iii) Movement in provision for make-good is as follows: 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

Opening balance   115,088 100,274 

Acquired as part of PayrollHQ acquisition 1 December 2020   - 14,814 
Additions   21,363 - 
Write-Off   (13,252) - 
Closing balance  123,199 115,088 
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Note 9. Goodwill 

In accordance with the accounting standard AASB 136 Impairment of Assets, the Group has conducted a review of indicators of 
impairment during the year for each of the cash generating units (CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated. 

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more frequently whenever indicators of impairment are identified. In testing for impairment, 
the carrying amount of each Cash Generating Unit (CGU) is compared against the recoverable amount. 

For each CGU tested, the recoverable amount has been calculated based on the value in use, using a discounted cash flow (DCF) 
approach. The DCF uses post-tax cash flow projections that are based on the most recent forecast of 5 years updated for current 
performance and is discounted at an appropriate pre-tax discount rate taking into account the Group’s weighted average cost of capital 
adjusted for any risks specific to the CGU. 

Terminal growth rates applied in the DCF are based on estimates of long-term Industry growth in the country in which the CGU primarily 
operates. 

The allocation of goodwill to each cash generating unit and assumptions applied in calculating the recoverable amounts of the goodwill 
in testing for impairment are as follows: 

 Allocated Goodwill Pre-tax discount rate Long term growth rate 

 2022 
 

$ 

2021 
(Restated) 

$ 

 2022 
 

% 

2021 
 

% 

2022 
 

% 

2021 
 

% 
Astute 2,289,938 2,289,938 15% 15.6% 5% 5% 
PayAsia 922,214 687,161 15.1% 15.1% 5% 5% 
IWS 9,562,746 - 15% n/a 5% n/a 
Payroll HQ 2,513,944 2,513,944 15% n/a 5% n/a 
 

Other significant assumptions in the forecast are noted in the table below: 

 Y1  Y2 to Y5 

Revenue growth  42% 20% 
Cost growth 27% 11% 
 

No impairment of goodwill is recognised in the year to 31 March 2022 (2021: nil). 

Management notes that goodwill is not sensitive to changes in any of the above noted assumptions and will yield a similar result if these 
assumptions are changed adversely by up to 5%. 

Significant estimates made 

The continued profitability and growth of the CGUs are dependent on retaining existing client revenue. Loss of existing client revenue 
would result in reduced headroom or impairment of the goodwill allocated to the CGUs. The cash flow projections also assume an 
increased number of clients using the software provided by the business over the forecast period. If the business is not able to achieve 
the increased revenue from new client sales then it will result in reduced headroom or impairment of the goodwill allocated to the CGUs. 
 

Note 10. Leases 

Recognition and measurement 

The leases recognised by the Group under AASB 16 predominantly relate to property leases. The Group recognises all lease liabilities 
and corresponding right of use assets, with the exception of short-term (12 months or less) and low value leases, on the balance sheet. 
Lease liabilities are recorded at the present value of fixed payments, variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, amounts 
payable under residual value guarantees and extension options expected to be exercised. Where a lease contains an extension option 
which the Group can exercise without negotiation, lease payments for the extension period are included in the liability if the Group is 
reasonably certain that it will exercise the option. Variable lease payments not dependent on an index or rate are excluded from the 
liability. Lease payments are discounted at the incremental borrowing rate of the lessee, unless the rate implicit in the lease can be readily 
determined. The right of use asset at initial recognition reflects the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made before the 
commencement date plus any make good obligations and initial direct costs incurred. 
 
Lease liabilities are remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate, or a change 
in the assessed lease term. A corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right of use asset, or is recorded in profit 
or loss if the carrying amount has been reduced to zero. 
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The Group applied judgement to determine the incremental borrowing rates as well as the lease term for some lease contracts that include 
extension or termination options. The assessment of whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise such options impacts the lease 
term, which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities and right of use assets recognised.  
 
The Group recognises depreciation of the right of use assets and interest on the lease liabilities in the income statement over the lease 
term. Repayments of lease liabilities are separated into a principal portion (presented within financing activities) and interest portion 
(presented within operating activities) in the cash flow statement. 
 
Right-of-use assets 

 
The RoU assets have been measured at the initial lease liability amount, as if the AASB 16 had been applied from the commencement 
date of the leases. The recognised ROU assets relate to the following assets: 

  
$ 

Balance 1 April 2020 1,622,520 
Additions 385,381 
Acquired as part of the PHQ acquisition 1 Dec 2020 72,078 
Disposal (3,723) 
Depreciation (614,848) 
Balance 31 March 2021 $1,461,408 
Additions 271,552 
Acquired as part of the IWS acquisition 1 May 2021 162,192 
Disposal (498,508) 
Depreciation (670,321) 
Balance 31 March 2022 726,323 
 
Lease liabilities 
 
The movement in lease liabilities from 1 April 2021 to the year ended 31 March 2022 is presented below: 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

Balance 1 April   1,483,623 1,720,779 
Additions   250,188 385,381 
Disposal   (421,642) (16,551) 
Rent concessions recognized as other income   - (62,368) 
Acquired as part of IWS acquisition 1 May 2021   185,203 – 
Acquired as part of PayrollHQ acquisition 1 Dec 2020   - 68,258 
Interest expense   73,097 115,724 
Foreign exchange loss on translation   (35,572) (200,320) 
Payments on lease liabilities   (759,640) (527,280) 
Balance 31 March  775,257 1,483,623 
    
Lease liabilities – current  602,694 619,750 
Lease liabilities – non-current  172,563 863,873 
 

Note 11. Equity 

(a) Share capital 

31 March 2022 31 March 2021 
 Shares $ Shares $ 
 118,327,272 62,519,759 82,522,339 43,672,726 
 
Recognition and measurement 
 
Ordinary fully paid shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown 
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.  
 
All issued ordinary shares are fully paid. Holders of these shares are entitled to dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled 
to one vote per share at general meetings of the Group. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Group's residual assets. 
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Movements in ordinary share capital 
 Date Shares Issue price $ 
Balance at 1 April 2020  68,894,010  36,213,927 
Shares issued pursuant to TalentOz acquisition 14-Jul-20 1,826,865 $0.84 1,534,567 
Shares issued pursuant to PayrollHQ acquisition (Tranche 1) 15-Dec-20 4,122,694 $0.60 2,473,617 
Shares issued pursuant to PayrollHQ acquisition (Tranche 2) (1) 15-Dec-20 1,405,762 - - 
Shares issued – capital raise 9-Sep-20 6,034,483 $0.58 3,500,000 
Cost of share issued recorded directly in equity 15-Dec-20   (192,500) 
Shares issued to settle supplier payment 15-Dec-20 58,977 $0.60 35,387 
Shares issued to settle employee entitlements 15-Dec-20 49,467 $0.60 29,680 
Shares issued under Employee share plan 15-Dec-20 105,347 $0.60 63,208 
Shares issued under Employee share plan 13-Jan-21 24,734 $0.60 14,840 
Balance 31 March 2021  82,522,339  43,672,726 
Balance at 1 April 2021  82,522,339  43,672,726 
Options issued to settle share placement fee 01-Apr-21 - $0.21 (494,314) 
Shares issued - capital raise 12-Apr-21 20,300,000 $0.56 11,368,000 
Shares issued - share purchase plan 05-May-21 1,162,038 $0.56 650,741 
Shares issued pursuant to IWS acquisition 18-May-21 4,069,150 $0.54 2,217,687 
Shares issued - capital raise 19-May21 6,485,714 $0.56 3,632,000 
Cost of share issued recorded directly in equity 19-May-21 - $0.00 (818,982) 
Shares issued pursuant to PayAsia Japan's  
Acquisition 

30-Jun-21 107,834 $0.45 48,525 

Shares issued under Employee share plan 30-Jun-21 95,103 $0.45 42,796 
Shares issued under Employee share plan 30-Jun-21 181,272 $0.45 81,572 
Shares issued to settle supplier payment 30-Jun-21 84,268 $0.45 37,921 
Financial liability settled in relation to Tranche 2 of  
PayrollHQ acquisition 

15-Sep-21 - $0.00 653,679 

Shares issued pursuant to IWS acquisition (Tranche  
2) 

02-Dec-21 2,835,753 $0.43 
 

1,219,374 

Shares issued to settle employee entitlements 02-Dec-21 362,705 $0.43 
 

155,963 

Shares issued pursuant to PayAsia Japan's  
acquisition (Tranche 2) 

10-Mar-22 121,096 $0.43 52,071 

Balance 31 March 2022   118,327,272  62,519,759 
 
(1) Tranche 2 shares issued are contingent purchase consideration which has been recorded as a financial liability. Refer note 7c. 

 
(b) Reserves 

Recognition and measurement 
 
Share-based payment reserve 
 
The share-based payment reserve is used to recognise: 
 
 the fair value of options issued to Directors and employees which have not been exercised; 
 the fair value of shares issued to Directors and employees; and 
 other share-based payment transactions. 

 
The cost of shares and options over shares issued to Directors and employees are measured as set out in the audited remuneration 
report. 
 
Equity settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees and directors.  
 
Equity settled transactions are awards of shares, or employee loan share plans, that are provided to employees and directors in exchange 
for the rendering of services.  
 
The cost of equity settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date.  
 
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting period.  The 
cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the best estimate of the number of awards 
that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. The amount recognised in profit or loss for the period is the cumulative 
amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts already recognised in previous periods. 
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Foreign currency translation reserve 

 
It comprises foreign currency translation differences arising on the translation of financial statements of the Group’s foreign entities into 
$AUD. 
 
Reserves 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Share based payment reserve   711,218 216,904 
Actuarial (losses)/gains on defined benefit plan   286,028 222,065 
Foreign currency translation reserve   (556,379) (655,592) 
Reserves pursuant to share swap acquisition of PayAsia   (16,698,676) (16,698,676) 
  (16,257,809) (16,915,299) 

 
 
 
Share based payment expense 
 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Shares issued to settle supplier payment   37,921 35,387 

Shares issued to settle employee entitlements   155,963 29,680 
Shares issued under Employee share plan   124,368 78,048 
  318,252 143,115 
 
 
Note 12. Earnings per share and dividends 
 
Recognition and measurement 
 
Basic earnings per share  
 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of PayGroup Limited, excluding any cost of servicing 
equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for 
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year.  
 
Diluted earnings per share 
 
Diluted earnings per share adjust the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after income 
tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of 
shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
 
 
Earnings per share 
 
Reconciliation of earnings used and the weighted average number of shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share to the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share is as follows: 

   2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

Profit (Loss) after income tax (basic)   (357,804) (510,697) 
Profit (Loss) after income tax (diluted)   (357,804) (510,697) 
Weighted average number of shares used in basic earnings per share   112,795,289 75,261,670 
Weighted average number of shares used in diluted earnings per share   112,795,289 75,261,670 
Basic earnings / (loss) per share (cents per share)  (0.32) (0.68) 
Diluted earnings / (loss) per share (cents per share)  (0.32) (0.68) 
 

Dividends 

No dividends were paid during the year ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021.   
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Note 13. Financial instrument risk 

Capital and Risk management objectives and policies 

The Group’s objective when managing capital is to: 
 Safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that they can provide returns to shareholders; and 
 Maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. For the purpose of analysis the Group defines capital as fully paid 
ordinary shares 
 
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk 
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group uses different methods to measure different types of risk 
to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks, 
ageing analysis for credit risk. 

(a) Market risk analysis 

Foreign currency risk 
 
The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign currency risk through foreign 
exchange rate fluctuations. 
 
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in 
a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and cash flow forecasting.  
 
Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
interest rates. 
 
The table below outlines the variable interest rate on cash at bank. 
 

   2022 
Weighted average 

interest rate 

2022 
Balance 

$   

2021 
Weighted average 

interest rate 

2021 
Balance 

$   
Cash and cash equivalents   0.34% 25,312,644 0.34% 12,111,732 
Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk   25,312,644  12,111,732 
 
Sensitivity analysis 

A change by 10% in existing interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/decreased equity and profit/loss for the period by 
the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis 
for the comparative period. 

Impact on profit/loss for the period: 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

Increase in interest rates +10%  0.37% 8,606 4,118 
Decrease in interest rates -10% 0.31% (8,606) (4,118) 
 
(b) Credit risk analysis 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an 
obligation. The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date of recognised 
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the 
consolidated statement of financial position and notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers 
including receivables and committed transactions. 
 
Trade receivables 
 
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis through regular review of ageing analysis. Trade receivables are written 
off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.  Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers in various industries 
and geographical areas. The Group does not hold any security on the trade receivables balance.  
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The Group applies the AASB 9 simplified model of recognising lifetime expected credit losses for all trade receivables as these items do 
not have a significant financing component. In measuring the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been assessed on a collective 
basis as they possess shared credit characteristics.  They have been grouped based on days past due. Refer to Note 7(b) for further 
information of impairment and risk exposure. 
 
The Group does not have any significant credit risk to any single counterparty given the large number of customers. 
 
(c) Liquidity risk analysis 

Prudent liquidity risk management requires the Group to maintain sufficient liquid assets and available borrowing facilities to be able to 
pay debts as and when they become due and payable. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and by 
continuously monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Amounts 
presented below represent the future undiscounted principal and interest cash flows. 
 

Maturity analysis 
 1 year or less 

$  
Between 1 and 2 

years 
$  

Between 3 and 5 
 years 

$ 

Over 5  
years  

$ 

Remaining contractual 
maturities 

$ 
Non-interest bearing      
Trade payables 1,398,473 - - - 1,398,473 
Other payables 2,117,894 - - - 2,117,894 
Advances of client's monies 9,015,703 - - - 9,015,703 
Accrued expenses 890,338 - - - 890,338 
Lease liabilities 619,750             522,926               259,621              81,326             1,483,623  
Balance 31 March 2021 14,042,158 522,926 259,621 81,326 14,906,031 
Non-interest bearing      
Trade payables 1,692,774 - - - 1,692,774 
Other payables 2,572,006 - - - 2,572,006 
Advances of client's monies 19,139,930 - - - 19,139,930 
Accrued expenses 1,576,309 - - - 1,576,309 
Lease liabilities 627,833 95,624 78,894  - 802,351 
Balance 31 March 2022 25,608,852 95,624 78,894 - 25,783,370 
 
The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed above. 
 
 
Note 14. Contingent assets and liabilities 

The Company entered into a Performance Rights Agreement with Mr Webb whereby if the AstuteOne Limited group of companies 
achieved a Profit Before Tax (PBT) of A$1.5m for the Target Performance Period ended 31 October 2020, Mr Webb would be 
entitled to be issued shares in the Company worth A$1.5m. The PBT calculation was furnished to Mr Webb within 45 days of the 
end of the Target Performance Period.  Based on the Company’s calculation, the earn-out PBT has not been satisfied and 
therefore no share based payments were recognised.  Mr Webb disputes the Company's calculations and claims he is entitled to 
shares in the Company worth A$1.5m. 

On 12th November 2021, post mediation, PayGroup signed a settlement deed with Mr Webb where it was agreed that Mr Webb's 
contractual rights under the Performance Rights Agreement for a further $1.5 million in shares of PayGroup is subject to 
achievement of profit threshold (PRA Claim) is to be determined by an independent expert (whose decision will be final and 
binding on the parties).  

IWS’ Share Sale Agreement (SSA) stipulates performance earn-out of up to $2.55m payable in new PayGroup shares, will be 
paid upon achieving key operational milestones in FY22 and FY23. The Share Sales Agreement specifies that an earn out is 
payable in an earn-out period if i) the gross profit margin target of 70% is met and ii) 95% or more of the revenue target is met 
(target = $6.2m for FY22 and $7.4m  for FY23). An earn out factor between 60% (=> 95% of revenue target) to 100% (=> 100 of 
revenue target) for each earn out period is to be determined based on a sliding scale range and then to be multiplied by 10% of 
the initial consideration. Based on the probability of not reaching the minimum revenue targets, the expected value of the earn out 
is considered to be nil. 

There were no other material claims or disputes of a contingent nature against the Company and its subsidiaries as at the reporting 
date. 

  



Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
For the year ended 31 March 2022 

 

PAYGROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT FY22                                                                                  52 

Note 15. Business Combinations 
 
Current financial year 
 
IWS 
 
Summary of acquisition 
 
The Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Integrated Workforce Solutions Pty Ltd and IWS Bookkeeping Australia 
Pty. Ltd. (combinedly referred as IWS) effective 1 May 2021. IWS provides a leading cloud-based platform delivering rostering, 
payroll and accounting services specialising in solutions for the franchise sector in Australia and New Zealand. IWS’s purpose 
built proprietary platform simplifies complex payroll administration and includes high margin modules for rostering, time and 
attendance, award interpretation, KPI and benchmarking tools, and bookkeeping. IWS has a large and captive client base of more 
than 1,000 customers, for which it processes in excess of 400,000 pay slips per annum. IWS has an established position as the 
provider for new franchise locations and preferred supplier to existing sites, and a customer retention rate in excess of 94%. The 
IWS Acquisition has expanded PayGroup’s offering into a new high-margin franchise vertical, strengthening the core payroll 
business, providing substantial cross-sell opportunities, and is expected to make a material contribution to PayGroup’s annualised 
recurring revenue (ARR). 
 
 
Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows: 

 31 March 
2022 

$   
Purchase consideration (refer note below):    
Cash paid   8,521,119 
Ordinary shares issued   2,217,686 
Contingent purchase consideration payable (recorded as financial liability)   1,712,151 
Total purchase consideration  12,450,956 
 
 
The fair value of the 4,069,150 ordinary shares issued and 2,835,749 contingent shares consideration is taken at $0.545. The fair 
value was based on the representing PayGroup’s closing share price at the transaction date. The 2,835,749 issued as contingent 
consideration shares were recorded as a financial liability and were initially valued at $0.545. Contingent purchase consideration 
payable pursuant to IWS’ acquisition considered were revalued at the date of settlement on their fair value of $0.43, the resulting 
fair value adjustment of $326,111 is recorded under other income. The contingent consideration is treated as a financial liability 
recognised at fair value and any changes in fair value were recorded through profit or loss.  
 
 
Further performance earn-out of up to $2.55m , payable in new PayGroup shares, will be paid upon achieving key operational 
milestones in FY22 and FY23. The Share Sales Agreement specifies that an earn out is payable in an earn-out period if i) the 
gross profit margin target of 70% is met and ii) 95% or more of the revenue target is met (target = $6.2m for FY22 and $7.4m  for 
FY23). An earn out factor between 60% (=> 95% of revenue target) to 100% (=> 100 of revenue target) for each earn out period 
is to be determined based on a sliding scale range and then to be multiplied by 10% of the initial consideration. Based on the 
probability of not reaching the minimum revenue targets, the achievement of performance earn-out is unlikely. 
 
 
The transaction was undertaken based on the fair value of IWS’ assets and liabilities acquired as at 1 May 2021. 
 
The Group had finalised acquisition accounting on the IWS acquisition. The final purchase price allocation did not result in any 
adjustment to the initial purchase price allocation. The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows: 
 

 31 March 
2022 

$   
Cash and cash equivalents   669,282 

Restricted client monies   36,736 
Trade and other receivables   262,235 
Contract assets   106,206 
Contract liabilities   (62,390) 
Right-of-use assets   162,192 
Lease liabilities   (185,203) 
Plant and equipment   17,881 
Trade and other payables   (1,067,782) 
Advances of clients' monies   (36,736) 
Intangible assets:    
        Software   830,000 
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Customer contracts and relationships   2,440,000 
Trademark and tradename   140,000 

Deferred tax liability   (424,211) 
Net identifiable assets acquired  2,888,210 
Add: goodwill   9,562,746 
Net assets acquired  12,450,956 
 
The goodwill is attributable to the workforce and the underlying business capability and operational performance. It will not be 
deductible for tax purposes. 
 
(i) Acquisition related costs 

 
Acquisition-related costs of $140,547 that were not directly attributable to the payment of purchase consideration are included 
in consulting and professional fees in profit or loss and in investing cash flows in the statement of cash flows. 
 

(ii) Acquired receivables 
 
The fair value of acquired trade and other receivables is $262,235 of which none is expected to be uncollectible. 
 

(iii) Reconciliation of cash flow used in investing activities 

 31 March 
2022 

$   
Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, net of cash 

acquired 
   

Cash consideration   (8,521,119) 
Less: Balances acquired    
   Cash   669,282 
Net inflow/ (outflow) of cash – investing activities  (7,851,837) 
 

(iv) Revenue and profit contribution 

The acquired business contributed revenues of $5,086,165 and net profit before tax of $170,914  to the Group for the period from 
1 May 2021 to 31 March 2022. 
 
If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2021, consolidated pro-forma revenue and net profit before tax for the year ended 31 
March 2022 would have been $5,444,341 and $167,746 respectively. These amounts have been calculated using the acquiree’s 
results. 
 
PayAsia Japan 
 
Summary of acquisition 
 
The Group acquired business of PayAsia Japan Co., Ltd. (PayAsia Japan) (previously referred as FF Partners Co., Ltd. (FFP)) 
effective 1 July 2021. FFP is headquartered in Tokyo (Japan) and provides the complex payroll and social insurance management 
services to organisations in Japan. 
 
Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows: 

 31 March 
2022 

$   
Purchase consideration (refer note below):    
Cash paid   120,195 
Ordinary shares issued   100,596 
Total purchase consideration  220,791 
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The fair value of the initial consideration shares (i.e.107,834 shares) issued at $0.45 and contingent consideration shares (i.e. 
121,096 shares)  issued at $0.43 as part of the consideration paid for PayAsia Japan’s was based on the PayGroup’s closing 
share price at the transaction dates. 
 
The transaction was undertaken based on the fair value of PayAsia Japan’s assets and liabilities acquired as at 1 July 2021. 
 
The Group had finalised acquisition accounting on the PayAsia Japan’s acquisition. The final purchase price allocation did not 
result in any adjustment to the initial purchase price allocation. The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition 
are as follows: 
 
 

 31 March 
2022 

$   
Restricted client monies   744,996 

Advances of clients' monies   (744,996) 
Trade and other receivables   15,312 
Trade and other payables   (29,574) 
Net identifiable assets acquired  (14,262) 
Add: goodwill   $235,053 
Net assets acquired  220,791 
 
 
The goodwill is attributable to the workforce and the underlying business capability and operational performance. It will not be 
deductible for tax purposes. 
 
(i) Acquisition related costs 

 
Acquisition-related costs of $31,070 that were not directly attributable to the payment of purchase consideration are included 
in consulting and professional fees in profit or loss and in investing cash flows in the statement of cash flows. 
 

(ii) Acquired receivables 

 
The fair value of acquired trade and other receivables is $15,312 of which none is expected to be uncollectible. 
 

 
(iii) Reconciliation of cash flow used in investing activities 

 31 March 
2022 

$   
Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, net of cash 

acquired 
   

Cash consideration   (120,195) 
Net inflow/ (outflow) of cash – investing activities  (120,195) 

 
(iv) Revenue and profit contribution 

 
The acquired business contributed revenues of $96,568 and net loss of $442,355 to the Group for the period from 1 July 2021 to 
31 March 2022. 

 
If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2021, consolidated pro-forma revenue and loss for the period ended 31 March 2022 
would have been $108,388 and $469,051 respectively. These amounts have been calculated using the acquiree’s results. 
 
 
Previous corresponding year 
 
TalentOz 
 
Summary of acquisition 
 
The Group acquired the business of TalentOz Sdn Bhd and Forzia Tech Private Limited (“TalentOz”) effective 1 July 2020. TalentOz 
provides comprehensive cloud-based HCM software with Payroll modules in Malaysia and India. It has an innovative SaaS HCM, analytics 
and payroll product suite with leading end-user functionality, enabling businesses to unlock the full value of their workforce across all 
devices.  
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Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired, and goodwill are as follows: 

 2021 
$   

Purchase consideration (refer note below):    
Cash paid   170,381 
Ordinary shares issued   1,534,567 
Total purchase consideration  1,704,948 
 
The fair value of the 1,826,865 shares issued at $0.84 as part of the consideration paid for TalentOz was based on the 5 days value 
weighted average share price from transaction date. 
 
The Group has finalised acquisition accounting on the TalentOz acquisition. The final purchase price allocation did not result in any 
adjustment to the initial purchase price allocation. The purchase consideration, assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the 
acquisition are as follows: 
 

 2021 
$   

Property, plant and equipment   30,875 

Intangible assets:    
Software   1,035,445 

Employee benefit liability   (48,533) 
Net identifiable assets acquired  1,017,787 
Add: goodwill   687,161 
Net assets acquired  1,704,948 
 
PayrollHQ 
 
Summary of acquisition 
 
The acquisition of PayrollHQ effective 1 December 2020 has significantly transformed PayGroup’s payroll presence in the Australia and 
New Zealand markets and increased PayGroup’s sales capabilities in Australia. PayrollHQ has an excellent client base and sales pipeline 
and is led by a group of experienced and high-performing industry experts. The acquisition is underpinned by a highly compelling rationale 
for PayGroup and is consistent with its strategic plan to grow its revenue and client base and capitalise on the fast-growing outsourced 
HCM and payroll markets across the Asia Pacific region. 
 
PayrollHQ provides a full suite of payroll outsourcing services for its clients, and processes in excess of 120,000 payslips per annum. 
PayrollHQ has over 100 current corporate clients and a significant sales funnel, with high client retention. 
 
Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows: 

 2021 
$   

Purchase consideration (refer note below):    
Ordinary shares issued   2,473,616 
Contingent purchase consideration payable (recorded as financial liability)   843,457 
Total purchase consideration  3,317,073 
 
The fair value of the 4,122,694 ordinary shares issued and 1,405,762 contingent shares consideration is taken at $0.60. The fair value 
was based on the 10 days value weighted average share price from transaction date. The 1,405,762 issued as contingent consideration 
shares were recorded as a financial liability and were initially valued at $0.60. Contingent purchase consideration payable pursuant to 
PayrollHQ’s acquisition were revalued at period end based on their fair value of $0.46, the resulting fair value adjustment of $231,950 is 
recorded under other income. 
The transaction was undertaken based on the fair value of PayrollHQ’s assets and liabilities acquired as at 1 December 2020. The goodwill 
is attributable to the workforce and the underlying business capability and operational performance.  
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The Group has finalised acquisition accounting on the PayrollHQ acquisition. The final purchase price allocation did not result in any 
adjustment to the initial purchase price allocation. The purchase consideration, assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the 
acquisition are as follows: 

 2021 
$   

Cash and cash equivalents   52,489 

Trade and other receivables   198,498 
Contract assets   120,161 
Contract liabilities   (57,720) 
Right-of-use assets   72,078 
Lease liabilities   (68,258) 
Plant and equipment   8,616 
Trade and other payables   (205,431) 
Intangible assets:    

Customer contracts and relationships   900,000 
Deferred tax liability   (217,303) 
Net identifiable assets acquired  803,130 
Add: goodwill   2,513,944 
Net assets acquired  3,317,074 
 
Note 16. Related parties 

 
PayGroup Limited acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Astute One Limited and its controlled entities (“AstuteOne”) on 1 November 
2019. AstuteOne became a 100% controlled entity at this date. 
 
PayGroup Limited acquired 100% of the issued share capital of PayrollHQ Pty Ltd (“PayrollHQ”) on 1 December 2020. PayrollHQ became 
a 100% controlled entity at this date.  
 
PayGroup Limited acquired 100% of the shares in Pay Asia Pte Ltd on 29 May 2018 as part of a share swap arrangement.  Pay Asia Pte 
Ltd became a 100% controlled entity at this date.  
 
Pay Asia Pte Ltd (100% owned subsidiary of PayGroup Limited) acquired 100% of the shares in Pay Asia Management Pvt Ltd on 28 
February 2019.  Pay Asia Management Pvt Ltd became a 100% controlled entity at this date. 
 
Pay Asia Pte Ltd incorporated a number of subsidiaries within countries where the Group has expanded its operations. As at 31 March 
2022 the results of these companies were not material to the results of the Group. 
 
As at reporting date and during the year ended 31 March 2022, the entities controlled by the Group are as follows: 
 
 
Name 

 
 

Date of acquisition 

 
 

Parent entity 

 
 

% 

Country of 
incorporation and 

business 
Pay Asia Pte Ltd 29 May 2018 PayGroup Limited 100% Singapore 
PayMY Outsourcing Sdn Bhd 29 May 2018 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% Malaysia 
Pay Asia Australia Ltd 29 May 2018 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% Australia 
Pay Asia Ltd 29 May 2018 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% Hong Kong 
Pay Asia HR Services Limited, Inc 29 May 2018 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% Philippines 
Pay Asia Management Pvt Ltd 28 Feb 2019 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% India 
Pay Asia (Thailand) Limited 10 Sep 2018 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% Thailand 
Payasia Company Limited 20 Nov 2018 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% Myanmar 
Pay Asia Vietnam Limited Liability Company 23 Mar 2019 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% Vietnam 
PT Payasia Konsultansi Indonesia 1 Mar 2019 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% Indonesia 
Payasia BPO Payroll India Private Limited 15 Nov 2018 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% India 
Astute One Limited 1 Nov 2019 PayGroup Limited 100% Australia 
Astute International Pty Ltd 1 Nov 2019 Astute One Limited 100% Australia 
Astute Corporation Pty Ltd 1 Nov 2019 Astute One Limited 100% Australia 
Managed Payroll Solutions Pty Ltd 1 Nov 2019 Astute One Limited 100% Australia 
Pay Asia Taiwan LLC 10 Nov 2020 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% Taiwan 
PayrollHQ Pty Ltd 1 Dec 2020 PayGroup Limited 100% Australia 
Integrated Workforce Solutions Pty Ltd 1 May 2021 PayGroup Limited 100% Australia 
IWS Bookkeeping Australia Pty Ltd 1 May 2021 PayGroup Limited 100% Australia 
Pay Asia Japan Co., Ltd 1 July 2021 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% Japan 
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In 2021, David Fagan (Independent Non-Executive Director and Chair of Audit Committee) was appointed as Chairman of BDO Group 
Holdings Limited (“BDO”) and thus it is considered as a related party. BDO has provided professional and consultancy services amounting 
to $174,405 for the year ended 31 March, 2022 and have a payable balance of $32,780 as at 31 March, 2022. 

 
(a) Key management personnel remuneration 

 
 2022 

$ 
2021 

$   
Short-term salary / fees   1,295,114  1,024,500 

Post-employment benefits   13,342  13,188 
Share based payments   103,625 78,049 
  1,412,081 1,115,737 

 
 

(b) PayMy Outsourcing Sdn Bhd 
 
Prior to the acquisition of Pay Asia Pte Ltd by PayGroup, Pay Asia Pte Ltd controlled the operation and profits of the Malaysian 
subsidiary, PayMy Outsourcing Sdn Bhd.  However due to regulatory constraints associated with transferring ownership of shares 
within Malaysia, the shareholders of PayMy Outsourcing Sdn Bhd who are KMP of the Group, has signed the acquisition agreement 
confirming that control is held by Pay Asia Pte Ltd and the share transfer will be executed on completion of the relevant filings within 
Malaysia.   
 

There were no transactions conducted between the Group and KMP or their related parties, apart from those disclosed above and those 
relating to equity compensation, that were conducted other than in accordance with normal employee, customer or supplier relationships 
on terms no more favourable than those reasonably expected under arm’s length dealings with unrelated persons. 

Note 17. Remuneration of auditors 

 
 2022 

$ 
2021 

$   
Audit and review of the consolidated financial statements:     

Auditors of PayGroup Limited - Grant Thornton Australia   359,289 257,050 

Auditors of subsidiaries - Overseas Grant Thornton network firms   56,869 54,435 

Auditors of other subsidiaries of the Group   25,117 53,212 
Remuneration from audit and review of consolidated financial statements   441,275 364,697 
Other services:     
Other subcontracted services - Overseas Grant Thornton network firms   - 59,984 
Total other services remuneration   - 59,984 
Total auditor's remuneration  441,275 424,681 
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Note 18. Reconciliation of cash flows 

 
Reconciliation of cash flow from operating activities 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

Cash flows from operating activities:     

Loss after tax for the period   (357,804) (510,697) 
Adjustments for:     
   Depreciation and amortization   2,761,649 2,264,589 
   Government grants (non-cash)   - (300,000) 
   Foreign exchange differences   363,697 72,106    
   Allowance for credit loss   (473,862) 28,786 
   Acquisition-related transaction costs   171,616 282,832 
   Share based payments for settlement of liability   318,252 143,115  
Net change in working capital     
   Change in trade and other receivables   (2,710,158) (2,178,962) 
   Change in prepayments   (122,383) 1,371 
   Increase in other assets   44,879 (429,541) 
   Increase in trade and other payables   745,706 1,899,560 
   Change in deferred tax   (1,113,386) 3,544   
   Change in provisions   866,512 317,400 
Net cash used in operating activities  494,718 1,594,103 
 
 
Non-cash investing and financing activities 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

Shares issued for IWS acquisition   3,437,061 1,534,567 

Shares issued pursuant to PayAsia Japan’s acquisition   100,596 2,473,617 
Shares issued as settlement of liability    37,921 35,387 
Shares issued to settle employee entitlements   198,759 29,680 
Shares issued under Employee share plan   81,572 78,048 
  3,855,909 4,151,299 
 
Available financing facilities 
 
The group has an unutilized overdraft facility of $244,000 from DBS Bank of Singapore. 
 
Note 19. Parent Entity information 

 
Information relating to PayGroup Limited (the Parent Entity): 

 2022 
$ 

2021 
$   

Statement of financial position     
Current assets   3,993,423 3,747,190 
Non-current assets   41,235,625 28,784,669 
Total assets   45,229,048 32,531,859 
Current liabilities   607,365 1,490,397 
Non-Current liabilities   - - 
Total liabilities   607,365 1,490,397 
Issued capital   63,014,073 43,672,726 
Share based payment reserve   216,904 216,904 
Accumulated loss   (18,609,294) (12,848,168) 
Total equity   44,621,683 31,041,462 
Loss for the year  5,761,126 8,109,987 
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Contingent liabilities of the parent entity 

 
The parent entity did not have any other contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2022 or 2021, except as disclosed in note 14. 
 
Guarantees entered into by the parent entity 
 
The parent entity did not have any guarantees as at 31 March 2022 or 2021. 
 
 
Note 20. Events after the reporting period 
 
 
On Thursday, 23 June 2022, PayGroup announced that it has entered into a Scheme Implementation Agreement (“SIA”) with 
leading global compliance and payroll company, Deel, and Deel Australia, to acquire 100% of the ordinary shares in PayGroup 
by way of a scheme of arrangement for cash consideration of A$1.00 per PayGroup share. Following consideration of the terms 
of the offer, including its view of the intrinsic value of PayGroup and the certainty for shareholders of the all-cash offer, the Board 
unanimously recommends that PayGroup shareholders vote in favour of the Scheme.    

Additionally, on Friday, 24 June 2022, 1,205,643 options exercisable at $1.10 expiring on 14 July 2023 and 1,205,643 options 
exercisable at $1.20 expiring on 14 July 2023 were cancelled. 

There has been no other matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial period, that has significantly affected, or 
may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent 
financial years. 
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In the directors’ opinion 

• The attached financial statements and notes comply with the Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001
and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;

• The attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31
March 2022 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date;

• as stated in note 2, the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards; and

• There are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and
payable.

The Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 31 March 2022. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the directors 

Ian Basser 
Chairman 
30 June 2022 
Melbourne 
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Members of Paygroup Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of PayGroup Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group), 

which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 

and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the Directors’ declaration.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, including: 

a giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 March 2022 and of its 

performance for the year ended on that date; and 

b complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 

of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements 

of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 

Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence 

Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled 

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion. 



Grant Thornton Australia Limited 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 

the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 

report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 

matters.  

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Revenue recognition – Note 5 

The Group derives revenue through the 
rendering of services which are performed 
under a combination of contractual agreements. 

Determining the appropriate revenue recognition 
methods for multiple contractual agreements 
can be complex and involves management 
judgement, which includes determination of 
each performance obligation within contracts, 
allocation of the consideration to individual 
performance obligations and identifying when 
performance obligations are satisfied so 
revenue can be recognised. 

This area is a key audit matter due to the 
complexity of the arrangements entered into 
with customers and the estimation uncertainty 
involved in the revenue recognition. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

• Obtaining an understanding of and assessing each
revenue stream to determine the appropriateness of
policies and procedures in place regarding revenue
recognition in accordance with accounting standard AASB
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers;

• Testing a sample of revenue transactions to supporting
documentation in order to:

− Assessing whether revenue is being recognised in
accordance with the Group’s revenue recognition
policies and the relevant accogunting standard; and

− Assessing management’s estimate of the Group’s
ability to satisfy performance obligations of each project
at 31 March 2022 through corroboration to underlying
supporting documentation;

• Performing a recalculation of the ability to meet the
performance obligations for each significant contract; and

• Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures within
the financial statements.

Capitalised software under development costs – Note 8(b) 

Capitalised product development costs had a 
net carrying value of $14,307,589 at 31 March 
2022. 

During the year the Group capitalised 
$3,601,020 of project development costs. These 
intangible assets are being amortised over a 10 
year period. 

AASB 138 Intangible Assets sets out the 
specific requirements to be met in order to 
capitalise development costs. Intangible assets 
should be amortised over their useful economic 
lives in accordance with AASB 138.  

This area is a key audit matter due to 
subjectivity and management judgement applied 
in the assessment of whether costs meet the 
development phase criteria described in AASB 
138, the estimate of the assets’ useful lives. 

Our procedures included, but were not limited to: 

• Assessing the Group’s accounting policy in respect of
software development costs for adherence to AASB 138;

• Evaluating management’s assessment of each project for
compliance with the recognition criteria set out in AASB
138, including discussing project plans with management
and project leaders to develop an understanding of the
nature and feasibility of key projects at 31 March 2022;

• Testing a sample of costs capitalised to supporting
documentation to understand the nature of the item and
whether expenditure was attributable to the development of
the related asset and assessing compliance with the
recognition criteria set out in AASB 138;

• Evaluating the appropriateness of the useful economic
lives over which capitalised costs are being amortised; and

• Assessing the adequacy of related disclosure in the
financial statements.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Capitalised value of goodwill – Note 9 

The Group has recorded goodwill totalling 
$15,288,842 at 31 March 2022 across four Cash 
Generating Units. Goodwill is required to be 
assessed for impairment annually by 
management as prescribed by AASB 136 
Impairment of Assets. 

Management test goodwill annually for 
impairment by comparing their carrying amounts 
against their recoverable amounts determined 
by either, the greater of its fair value less costs 
to sell, or its value in use. 

This area is a key audit matter due to the 
inherent uncertainty surrounding key inputs. 

Our procedures included, but were not limited to: 

• Enquiring with management to obtain and document an
understanding of their process and controls related to the
determination of cash generating units and the calculation
of recoverable amounts;

• Evaluating the impairment calculations prepared by
management against the requirements of AASB 136;

• Assessing management’s assessment of impairment and
management’s value in use calculations;

• Assessing management’s determination of four cash
generating units;

• Involving our internal valuation specialists to:

− Assess and evaluate the reasonableness of key
assumptions, including discount rates, terminal growth
rates, market evidence of industry earnings valuation
multiples and forecast growth assumptions; and

• Assessing the adequacy of disclosures in the financial
statements.

Deferred Tax Assets – Note 6 and Note 8(c) 

The Group recognised deferred tax assets of 
$1,981,451 during the year ended 31 March 
2022 arising from tax losses carried forward.  

AASB 112 Income Taxes requires that deferred 
tax assets in relation to carried forward tax 
losses are only recognised if certain conditions 
under the tax law in the entity’s jurisdiction are 
satisfied and if it is probable that sufficient 
taxable profits will be generated in order for the 
benefits to be realised. These benefits are 
realised by reducing tax payable on future 
taxable profits.  

The recoverability of deferred tax assets was a 
key audit matter due to the significant 
judgements required to assess the probability 
that sufficient future taxable profits can be 
generated. 

Our procedures included, but were not limited to: 

• Examining the documentation prepared by management
supporting the availability of tax losses that were
recognised in accordance with each jurisdictions tax laws;

• Involving our internal taxation specialists to assess the
work of managements experts on the availability of tax
losses carried forward;

• Assessing managements forecasts of future taxable profits
and reviewing the consistency of taxable profit forecasts to
the cash flow forecasts prepared for the CGU impairment
assessments;

• Challenging management’s assumptions and estimates
including those relating to forecast assessable income and
deductible expenditure and other allowances; and

• Assessing the adequacy of disclosures in the financial
statements.

Business Combination – Note 15 

On May 17 2021, PYG acquired 100% of the 
shares in Integrated Workforce Solutions (‘IWS’) 
for a total consideration of $12,450,956, 
comprising of $8,521,119 in cash and 
$3,929,837 in shares. 

AASB 3 Business Combinations requires 
significant judgement and estimates to be made 
in relation to: 

• The fair value of the purchase consideration,
including any contingent consideration;

Our procedures included, but were not limited to: 

• Reading the underlying sale and purchase agreements to
understand key terms and conditions of the transaction;

• Reviewing the work contained in the purchase price
allocation valuation calculations, including review of
managements expert’s valuation assessment, to determine
whether:

− The intangible assets identified are appropriate;

− The valuation methodologies used are reasonable; and
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

• The fair value of assets and liabilities
acquired, including separately identifiable
intangible assets; and

• Evaluating the fair value of assets acquired
during the provisional accounting period.

This is a key audit matter due to the significant 
judgement required as part of the determination 
of estimates when accounting for a business 
combination. 

− Assumptions used are reasonable compared with
external benchmarks and our knowledge of the Group
and its industry;

• Review work contained in the purchase price allocation
valuation calculation, including involvement of our GT
Corporate Finance team to determine whether:

• The intangible assets identified are appropriate;

• The valuation methodologies used are reasonable;

• Assumptions used are reasonable compared with external
benchmarks and our knowledge of the Group and its
industry;

• Testing the mathematical accuracy of the underlying
calculations; and

• Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures with
respect to the business acquisitions against the
requirements of AASB 3.

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 

in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2022, but does not include the financial report and our 

auditor’s report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 

so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial report h 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 

view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal 

control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 

and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 

alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 

can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 

Assurance Standards Board website at: https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilites/ar1_2020.pdf. This 

description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf
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Report on the remuneration report 

Responsibilities 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report 

in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 

Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 

Chartered Accountants 

E W Passaris 

Partner – Audit & Assurance 

Melbourne, 30 June 2022 

Opinion on the remuneration report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 18 to 22 of the Directors’ report for the year 

ended 31 March 2022. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of PayGroup Limited, for the year ended 31 March 2022 complies 

with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
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Additional information for listed public companies

The following additional information is required by the Australian Stock Exchange Ltd in respect of listed public companies only.  The following 
information is current as at 31 March 2022. 

1) Shareholding

a) Distribution of shareholders

Range  Total holders  Units % of issued capital 

1 – 1,000 197 138,244 0.12 
1,001 – 5,000 517 1,435,753 1.21 
5,001 – 10,000 222 1,745,396 1.48 
10,001 – 25,000 208 3,578,035 3.02 
25,001 – 50,000 109 4,047,672 3.42 
50,001 and over 191 107,382,172 90.75 

Total 1,444          118,327,272 100.00 

b) The number of shareholdings held in less than marketable parcels is 167,898.

c) Substantial Shareholders

Shareholder Number of Ordinary Shares 
Fully Paid Shares Held 

% Held of Issued Ordinary 
Capital 

BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD 22,268,770 18.82 
LAWRENCE PUSHPAM 7,051,953 5.96 
BOND STREET CUSTODIANS LIMITED <SALTER – 
D79836 A/C> 

6,000,000 5.07 

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 5,799,898 4.90 
BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <IB AU NOMS 
RETAILCLIENT DRP> 

4,779,869 4.47 

Total 45,900,490 38.79 

d) Voting Rights

The voting rights attached to each class of equity security are as follows:

Ordinary shares
Each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each member present at a meeting or by
proxy has one vote on a show of hands.
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Additional information for listed public companies 
(continued) 

e) 20 Largest Shareholders – Ordinary Shares

Shareholder Number of 
Ordinary Shares 

Fully Paid Shares 
Held 

% Held of 
Issued 

Ordinary 
Capital 

BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <DRP> 22,268,770 18.82 
LAWRENCE PUSHPAM 7,051,953 5.96 
BOND STREET CUSTODIANS LIMITED <SALTER - D79836 A/C> 6,000,000 5.07 
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 5,799,898 4.90 
BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <IB AU NOMS RETAILCLIENT DRP> 5,289,395 4.47 
CS THIRD NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <HSBC CUST NOM AU LTD 13 A/C> 4,779,869 4.04 
NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 3,958,627 3.35 
MS KERSTIN WAHLQVIST 3,313,058 2.80 
IMT HERON PTY LTD <A ROSS FAMILY A/C> 2,764,228 2.34 
J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED (1) 2,341,516 1.98 
MARKET EFFECT PTY LTD <MKOB FAMILY A/C> 2,132,176 1.80 
UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD 1,839,288 1.55 
TALENTOZ SDN BHD 1,614,209 1.36 
SIMON FORRESTER <SIMON & SALLY S/F A/C> 1,593,634 1.35 
JCVC PTY LTD < JCVC SUPER A/C> 1,302,450 1.10 
A.C.N. 636 453 864 PTY LTD 1,252,669 1.06 
MR PHILIP ANDREW RICHARDS 1,150,000 0.97 
SMMW PTY LTD <SMMW FAMILY A/C> 1,062,758 0.90 
ELIZABETH & CO PTY LTD <468 BARAKA FAMILY A/C> 995,124 0.84 
ROME CORP PTY LIMITED <DRYDEN FAMILY A/C> 984,977 0.83 
Total Top 20 holders of ordinary fully paid shares 77,494,599 65.49 
Total remaining holders balance 40,832,673 34.51 

(1) Mark Samlal holds a relevant interest in these shares 

2) Number and class of restricted securities and securities subject to voluntary escrow

Description Number on Issue 
Ordinary shares escrowed until 30 June 2023 276,375 
Ordinary shares escrowed until 31 December 2021 107,834 
Ordinary shares escrowed until 31 March 2023 6,904,903 
ESP shares escrowed until further notice 130,081 
Ordinary shares escrowed until 15 December 2022 5,528,456 
ESP shares escrowed for 24 months 1,634,798 
FP shares escrowed until 9 March 2023 121,096 
Total 14,703,543 

3) Unquoted Securities

There are no unquoted securities.

4) Use of cash

Since the date of listing on the ASX to the end of the reporting period PayGroup used its cash and assets readily convertible
into cash in a way consistent with its business objectives.
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Corporate Directory 

Directors Ian Basser – Non-Executive Chairman 

Mark Samlal – Managing Director 

David Fagan – Non-Executive Director 

Franck Neron-Bancel – Executive Director 

Shane Gild, Non-Executive Director

Company Secretary Oliver Carton 
Email: Investor@payasia.asia 

Registered Office Level 1 325 Flinders Lane 
Melbourne Victoria 3000 Australia 

PayGroup’s Global Headquarters Level 1 325 Flinders Lane 
Melbourne Victoria 3000 Australia 

Share Registry Computershare Investors Services Pty Limited 
452 Johnston Street 
Abbotsford VIC 3067 
www.computershare.com 

Stock Exchange Listing PayGroup Limited is listed on the Australian 
Stock Exchange (ASX Code: PYG) 

Australian Legal Adviser K&L Gates 
Level 25 
525 Collins Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000 Australia 

Auditor Grant Thornton 
Collins Square Level 22 Tower 5, 
727 Collins Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3008 

www.paygrouplimited.com 
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